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SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION 
     

SEC FORM 17-Q 

 
QUARTERLY REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 17 OF THE SECURITIES 

 REGULATION CODE AND SRC RULE 17(2)(b) THEREUNDER 
 
 
1.  For the quarterly period ended      September 30, 2013    
   
2.   Commission identification number CS200319138     
 
3.  BIR Tax Identification No.   227-409-243-000   
 
4.  Exact name of issuer as specified in its charter Alliance Select Foods International, Inc. 
  
 5. Pasig City, Philippines 
     Province, country or other jurisdiction of incorporation or organization 
  
6.  Industry Classification Code:           (SEC Use Only)  
  
7.  1205/1206/1405 East Tower PSEC Exchange Rd. Ortigas Center Pasig City 1605 
      Address of issuer's principal office                                                 Postal Code 
 
8.  635-5241 to 44 
     Issuer's telephone number, including area code   

  
 9.  Not Applicable 
      Former name, former address and former fiscal year, if changed since last report 
 
10. Securities registered pursuant to Sections 8 and 12 of the Code, or Sections 4 and 8 of the RSA  
 

Title of each Class   Number of shares of 
 common stock outstanding and 
    amount of debt outstanding 

 
 Common shares, P1.00                1,069,426,237 shares 
  Par Value 
 
11.  Are any or all of the securities listed on a Stock Exchange? 
 
 Yes   [ / ]    No   [  ] 
 

If yes, state the name of such Stock Exchange and the class/es of securities listed therein: 
 
    The Phil. Stock Exchange -  Common shares  
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12.  Indicate by check mark whether the registrant:  
 

(a) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 17 of the Code and SRC Rule 
17 thereunder or Sections 11 of the RSA and RSA Rule 11(a)-1 thereunder, and 
Sections 26 and 141 of the Corporation Code of the Philippines, during the 
preceding twelve (12) months (or for such shorter period the registrant was 
required to file such reports) 

 
 Yes  [ / ]     No   [  ] 
 
 (b) has been subject to such filing requirements for the past ninety (90) days. 
  
 Yes   [ / ]  No   [  ] 
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   PART I – FINANCIAL INFORMATION  
 
Item 1.  Financial Statements 
 
The unaudited financial statements of Alliance Select Foods International, Inc. (the “Company” 
or “Parent Company”) and its Subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) as of and for 
the quarter ended September 30, 2013 (with comparative figures as of December 31, 2012 and for 
the period ended September 30, 2012) and Selected Notes to the Consolidated Financial 
Statements is hereto attached as Annex “A”. 
 
The unaudited financial statements of the Group are presented in United States Dollar, the 
currency of the primary economic environment in which the Group operates. 
 
 Item 2.  Management’s discussion and analysis of Financial Condition and  
               Results of Operations.    
 
The following discussions should be read in conjunction with the attached unaudited financial 
statements of Alliance Select Foods International, Inc. (the “Company” or “Parent Company”) 
and its Subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) as of and for the quarter ended 
September 30, 2013 (with comparative figures as of December 31, 2012 and for the period ended 
September 30, 2012). 
 
The table below shows the comparisons of key operating results for the nine months period ended 
September 30, 2013 versus same period in 2012. 
 
In USD'000

2013 2012 2013 2012
Revenues 16,847                   21,798                    61,723                   56,741                    
Gross Profit 2,018                     4,143                      6,131                      7,355                      
Selling and Administrative Expenses 1,603                     1,433                      4,725                     3,981                      
Profit from Operations 416                        2,710                      1,405                     3,375                      
Other Non-Operating Income 282                        (26)                         1,293                     38                          
Other Non-Operating Expenses (541)                       (49)                         (1,171)                    (124)                       
Finance Costs (483)                       (497)                       (1,466)                    (1,435)                     
Share in the Profit (Loss) of an Associate 23                          8                            76                          (52)                         
Profit (Loss) Before Tax (303)                       2,146                      137                        1,802                      
Income Tax Expense (Benefit) 109                        185                        377                        625                        
Profit (Loss) for the period (412)                       1,961                      (239)                       1,177                      
Profit (Loss) attributable to Non-controlling Interest (116)                       (181)                       (302)                       (449)                       
Profit (Loss) attributable to Equity Holders of the Parent (296)                       2,141                      63                          1,626                      

For Q3 Ended Sept. 30 For the 9 Mos. Ended Sept. 30

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS 
Nine months Ended September 30, 2013 versus September 30, 2012   
 
In spite of a very challenging quarter, Alliance Select Foods International, Inc.’s 
(Alliance or the Company) sales performance for the first three quarters of the year 
continued to show appreciable growth rates. Revenues for the nine months ending 
September 30, 2013 clocked in at US$61.7m as against US$56.7m in the corresponding 
period last year. This growth was in spite of the continued softening in the global canned 
tuna market. Raw material prices for canned tuna have stayed at historic highs over the 
last few months depressing demand. We continue to monitor the price movements and 
are hopeful an upward recovery is in the offing for the 4th Quarter. 
 
The growth trajectory meanwhile for the smoked salmon division continues upward. 
Sales growth in the third quarter, and for the nine months period ending September 30, 
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2013, was an impressive 30% and 22% respectively. With the peak sales period for the 
division still expected to come in the fourth quarter the company forecasts sales to 
continue growing at its current pace. This division will thus end the year with a robust 
performance and substantially contribute to Alliance’s profitability. 
 
While the company’s profit margins were depressed for the quarter and the first nine 
months of the year, mainly due to the higher raw material prices, Alliance expects the 
situation to start to improve on the basis of lower fish cost. With the company’s foray 
into fishing which is expected to pick up steam in the first quarter of next year, Alliance 
is of the opinion that it will be able to mitigate the effects of high tuna prices and offer 
competitively priced products, thereby boosting its profit margins. 
 
 
Financial Condition, Liquidity, and Capital Resources 
September 30, 2013 vs. December 31, 2012 
 
Assets 
 
The Groups’ total assets as of September 30, 2013 increased to $ 70.1 million from $ 69.2 million 
a year ago. The decrease in Cash of $ 2.3 million was principally due to utilization of funds for 
operations. Trade & other receivables decreased by 18% due to collection of accounts.  Due from 
related parties was higher by 459% or $ 6.5 million due to the sale of three (3) fishing vessels to 
Wild Catch Fisheries, Inc., an associate. Inventories increased by 53% or $ 5.1 million due to soft 
demand for canned tuna in the world market and buildup of salmon products in preparation for 
the peak season. Biological assets decreased by 45% due to the harvest of smolts of Akaroa.  
Prepayments and other current assets increased by 20% due to prepaid professional fees incurred 
for the on-going preparations to seek a listing of Singapore Depositary Shares in Singapore 
Exchange Securities Trading Limited’s Catalyst Board and advance payments of costs relating to 
the importation of raw materials from its foreign suppliers. The Assets held for sale as of 
December 31, 2012 were concluded in April 4, 16 and June 28, 2013 respectively. 
 
For the nine months ended September 30, 2013 the Group posted a current ratio of 1.08:1.00 
 
Liabilities  
 
Total liabilities increased by 3% from $ 38.2 million to $ 39.4 million. Trade and Other Payables 
increased by $ 2.1 million as the Group maximized its credit terms with suppliers.  Loans Payable 
was higher by 2% due to additional availments to finance the growth in sales. Income tax payable 
decreased by 81% due to payment of tax liability in 2012.  Due to Related Party-current portion 
increased by 79% due to advances extended to Akaroa by a shareholder for working capital 
purposes. Loans payable & Due to related party – long term portion decreased by 13% and 38%, 
respectively due to partial payment of account. Retirement benefit obligation increased by 22% 
due to additional provision. 
 
The Group’s total liability to equity ratio as of September 30, 2013 was 1.28:1 from 1.23:1 in 
December 31, 2012.   
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Plan of Operation  
 

(a) The company does not foresee any cash flow or liquidity problem over the next twelve 
(12) months.  The company is in compliance with all its debt obligations.  The Company 
is not aware of any material off-balance sheet transactions, arrangements, obligations 
(including contingent obligations) and other relationship of the Company with entities or 
other persons created during the reporting period that would have significant impact on 
the Company’s operations and/or financial condition.   

 
As of September 30, 2013, there were no material events or uncertainties known to 
management that had a material impact on past performance or that could have a material 
impact on the future operations, in respect of the following: 
 

• Known trends, demands, commitments, events or uncertainties that would have a material 
impact on the Company; 

• Known trends, events, uncertainties that have had or that are reasonably expected  to have 
a material favorable or unfavorable impact on net sales/revenues/ income from 
continuing operations; 

• Significant elements of income or loss that did not arise from the Company’s continuing 
operations; and 

• Seasonal aspects that had a material effect on the financial condition or results of 
operations.   

 
(b) The Company does not foresee any product research and development to be performed 

for the next twelve months. 
 

(c) The Company is currently investing in backward integration into fishing which, as 
necessary would requires purchase and refurbishment of fishing vessels. 
 

(d) The Company does not expect any significant changes in the number of employees for 
the next twelve months. 
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Material Changes in Financial Statements 

(Increase/Decrease of 5% or more versus the same period in 2012) 
 
Income Statements 
Nine months ended September 30, 2013 versus same period in 2012. 
 
9% increase in Net Revenue primarily came from the increase in sales volume and selling prices 
of the tuna and salmon operations. 
 
13% increase in Cost of Sales principally due to increase in sales volume and higher cost of raw 
materials. 
 
19% increase in Selling and Administrative Expense primarily came from the full year impact of 
salary increase given effective September 1, 2012, hiring of additional manpower and 
consolidation of Akaroa acquired on October, 2012. 
 
3305% increase in Other Non-Operating Income due to gain on sale of fishing vessels and a forex 
gain due to depreciation of Peso & IDR. 
 
845% increase in Other Non-Operating Expense due to shutdown cost, provision for doubtful 
accounts, depreciation of fishing vessels and business development expense. 
 
246% increase in Share in the Net Income of an Associate and Joint Venture due to income of 
AMHI during the period. 
 
40% increase in Income Tax Expense due to the income tax provision of Spence & Co., Ltd. and 
tuna operation. 
 
 
Balance Sheets 
As of September 30, 2013 versus December 31, 2012 
 
56% decrease in Cash and Cash Equivalents due to utilization of funds for operations. 
 
18% decrease in Trade and other receivables due to collection of accounts. 
 
Due from related parties was higher by 459% or $6.5 million from the sale of three (3) fishing 
vessels to Wild Catch Fisheries, Inc., an associate. 
 
53% increase in Inventories due to soft demand for canned tuna in the world market and buildup 
of salmon products in preparation for the Christmas peak season. 
 
45% decrease in Biological assets due to the harvest of smolts. 
 
20% increase in Prepayments & Other Current Assets due to prepaid professional fees incurred 
for the on-going preparations to seek a listing of Singapore Depositary Shares in Singapore 
Exchange Securities Trading Limited’s Catalyst Board. 
 
The sale of “Assets held-for-sale” amounting to $4.5 million as of December 31, 2012 realized on 
April 4, 16 and June 28, 2013. 
  
60% increase in Investment in an Associate due to share in income of AMHI during the period 
and acquisition of 40% ownership in the JV Company, Wild Catch Fisheries, Inc. 
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6% decrease in Investment in Joint Venture due to loss incurred by FDCP, Inc. during the period. 
 
10% decrease in Property, plant and equipment due to sale of one (1) fishing vessel to an 
associate, Wild Catch Fisheries, Inc. 
 
12% increase in Other non-current assets due to lease deposit made by BGB for the plant rental to 
AMHI and unutilized input tax during the period. 
 
30% increase in Trade and Other Payables as the Group maximized its credit terms with the fish 
suppliers. 
 
81% decrease in Income Tax Payable due to payment of 2012 tax. 
 
79% increase in Due to related party – current portion due to advances extended to Akaroa by a 
shareholder for its working capital requirements. 
 
13% decrease in Loans payable – net of current portion due to payment of scheduled loan 
amortization. 
 
38% decrease in Due to Related Parties due to partial payment of account. 
 
22% increase in Retirement Benefit Obligation due to additional provision for the period. 
 

5% increase in Deferred tax liabilities due to the recognition of taxable temporary differences of 
Bitung plant. 

 
529% decrease in Non-controlling Interest due to net loss share of the minority shareholders 
during the period. 
 
 
KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS  
 
The Group uses the following key performance indicators in order to assess the Group’s financial 
performance from period to period. Analyses are employed by comparisons and measurements 
based on the financial data on the periods indicated below: 
 

September 30, 2013 December 31, 2012
Current / Liquidity Ratios
Current ratio 1.08                             1.06                             
Debt to Equity 1.28                             1.23                             
Solvency Ratio
Quick ratio 0.34                            0.50                             
 

2013 2012
Net revenue growth rate 8.8% 78.6%
Gross profit margin 9.9% 13.0%
Operating margin 2.3% 5.9%
Net profit margin -0.4% 2.1%
Return on equity 4.6% 3.9%
Return on asset 2.0% 1.8%

For the Nine Months Ended September 30
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The following defines each ratio: 
 
The current ratio is the ratio of the Company’s current resources versus its current obligations.  
This is computed by dividing the current assets by the current liabilities.  The result is expressed 
in number of times. 
 
The quick ratio is the ratio of the Company’s cash plus trade and other receivables versus its 
current obligations.  This is computed by dividing the sum of cash and trade and other receivables 
by the current liabilities.  The result is expressed in number of times. 
  
The total liabilities to equity ratio are used to measure debt exposure.  It shows the relative 
proportions of all creditors’ claims versus ownership claims.  This is computed by dividing total 
liabilities by total stockholders’ equity.  The result is expressed in proportion. 
 
The net sales growth rate is the Company’s increase in revenue for a given period.  This growth 
rate is computed from the current net sales less net sales of the previous year, divided by the net 
sales of the previous year.  The result is expressed in percentage. 
 
The gross profit margin is the ratio of the Company’s gross profit versus its net sales for a given 
period.  This is computed by dividing gross profit by net sales.  The result is expressed in 
percentage. 
 
The operating margin is the ratio of the Company’s income from operations versus its net sales 
for a given period.  This is computed by dividing income from operations by net sales.  The result 
is expressed in percentage. 
 
The net income margin is the ratio of the Company’s net income after tax versus its net sales for a 
given period.  This is computed by dividing net income after tax by net sales.  The result is 
expressed in percentage. 
 
The return on equity ratio is the ratio of the Company’s net income to stockholders’ equity.  This 
measures the managements’ ability to generate returns on investments.  This is computed by 
dividing net income after tax by the average stockholders’ equity.  The result is expressed in 
percentage. 

 
The return on asset ratio is the ratio of the Company’s net income to total assets.  This is 
computed by dividing net income after tax by the average total assets.  The result is expressed in 
percentage. 
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ALLIANCE SELECT FOODS INTERNATIONAL, INC. AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES
(Formerly Alliance Tuna International, Inc. and its Subsidiaries)
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION
(In U.S. Dollar)

September 30, 2013
Notes Unaudited Audited

ASSETS
Current Assets
Cash 7 $ 1,864,722 $ 4,191,826
Trade and other receivables - net 8                      9,370,891 11,474,299                   
Due from related parties 20                      7,881,804 1,410,956                     
Inventories - net 9                    14,781,539 9,681,337                     
Biological asset 10                          110,118 201,521                       
Prepayments and other current  assets 11                      2,160,689 1,799,463                     

36,169,763                  28,759,402                   
Assets held-for-sale 16                                 -   4,546,406                     
   Total Current Assets 36,169,763                  33,305,808                   
Non-current Assets
Investment in associates 12                         369,630 231,397                       
Investment in joint venture 13                         577,881 616,165                       
Property, plant and equipment - net 14                    20,762,766 23,013,498                   
Deferred tax assets                         212,554 212,554                       
Goodwill on business combination 2                      9,502,585 9,502,585                     
Intangible assets 15                         264,844 267,637                       
Other non-current assets 17                      2,258,406 2,022,418                     
   Total Non-current Assets 33,948,667                  35,866,254                   

$70,118,430 $69,172,062
LIABILITIES AND EQUITY 
Current Liabilities
Trade and other payables 18 $ 8,962,493 $ 6,877,989
Loans payable 19                    24,413,567 23,950,840                   
Income tax payable                         101,778 537,775                       
Due to related parties 20                          46,590 25,998                         
   Total Current Liabilities 33,524,428                  31,392,602                   
Non-current Liabilities
Loans payable - net of current portion 19                      4,487,601 5,175,542                     
Due to related parties 20                         613,830 986,850                       
Retirement benefit obligation 21                         512,946 421,037                       
Deferred tax liabilities                         249,341 236,939                       
   Total Non-current Liabilities 5,863,718                    6,820,368                     

39,388,146                  38,212,970                   
Equity
Share capital 22                    22,575,922 22,575,922                   
Reserves 24                      4,108,558 4,082,955                     
Retained earnings                      4,308,804 4,246,070                     

30,993,284                  30,904,947                   
Treasury shares 22 (5,774)                         (5,774)                          
Equity attributable to equity holders of the parent 30,987,510                  30,899,173
Non-controlling interest 23 (257,227)                     59,919
   Total Equity 30,730,284                  30,959,092

$70,118,430 $69,172,062
See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

December 31, 2012
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ALLIANCE SELECT FOODS INTERNATIONAL, INC. AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES

UNAUDITED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 

(In U.S. Dollar)

Notes 2013 2012 2013 2012

Net Revenue 26 $16,847,118 $21,797,833 $61,723,109 $56,741,484
28 14,828,632             17,654,976             55,592,274             49,386,009             

Gross Profit 2,018,486               4,142,857               6,130,835               7,355,475               
Selling and Administrative Expenses 29 1,602,701               1,432,724               4,725,379              3,980,680               

Profit from Operations 415,785                  2,710,133               1,405,456               3,374,795               
Other Non-Operating Income 27 282,365                 (26,280)                   1,293,252               37,986                    
Other Non-Operating Expenses 30 540,774                 48,679                    1,171,200               123,980                  
Finance Costs 33 482,786                 497,269                  1,465,796               1,434,822               
Share in the Profit (Loss) of an Associate 12,13 22,703                   7,665                      75,531                   (51,780)                   

Profit (Loss) Before Tax (302,708)                2,145,570               137,243                  1,802,199               
Income Tax Expense (Benefit) 109,337                  184,848                  376,502                 625,257                  

Profit (Loss) ($412,045) $1,960,722 ($239,259) $1,176,942

Attributable to:

Equity holders of the parent ($296,087) $2,141,480 62,734                   1,625,566               
Non-controlling interest 23 (115,957)                (180,758)                 (301,993)                (448,624)                 

($412,045) $1,960,722 ($239,259) $1,176,942

Earnings Per Share

Basic and diluted earnigs per share 34 ($0.0003) $0.0021 $0.0001 $0.0016

Profit (Loss) for the Year ($412,045) $1,960,722 ($239,259) $1,176,942
Other Comprehensive Income

Exchange differences on translating foreign operations 25,603                   43,424                    
Revaluation increment -                        -                         
Share in other comprehensive income of an associate -                        -                         
Other Comprehensive Income - net of tax -                         -                         25,603                   43,424                    
Total Comprehensive Income ($412,045) $1,960,722 ($213,656) $1,220,366

Attributable to:

Equity holders of the parent ($296,087) $2,141,480 88,337                   1,647,335               
Non-controlling interest (115,957)                (180,758)                 (301,993)                (426,969)                 

($412,045) $1,960,722 ($213,656) $1,220,366

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

For the Quarter Ended          
September 30

For Nine Months Ended             
September 30

Cost of Goods Manufactured and Sold
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ALLIANCE SELECT FOODS INTERNATIONAL, INC. AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES
(Formerly Alliance Tuna International, Inc.)
UNAUDITED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
(Amounts In U.S. Dollar)

Share    Cumulative
        Share Deposit        Share Revaluation    Dividends     Translation          Retained         Treasury      Non-controlling 

Notes        Capital on Subscription          Premium Increment    Payable      Adjustment          Earnings          Shares      Interest         Total 
Balance, January 1, 2012 17,861,369         2,948,340         57,668              3,258,912              4,877               139,714                 3,795,727            (5,774)              275,400                    28,336,233            

Additional subscription 3,258,912           2,329,034                 -                   -                   (3,258,912)            -                   -                        -                      -                   -                           2,329,034              
Repurchase of shares issued to non-controlling interests 23 (500,000)                   (500,000)                

21,120,281         2,329,034                 2,948,340         57,668              0                           4,877               139,714                 3,795,727            (5,774)              (224,600)                   30,165,267            
Other comprehensive income

  Exchange differences on translating foreign operations -                     -                   -                   -                       -                   21,768                   -                      -                   21,656                      43,424                   
  Share in other comprehensive income of a joint venture 13 -                     -                   -                   -                       -                   -                        -                      -                   -                           -                        

Profit (Loss) for the year 23 -                     -                   -                   -                       -                   -                        1,625,566            -                   (448,624)                   1,176,942              
Total comprehensive income (loss) -                     -                   -                   -                       -                   21,768                   1,625,566            -                   (426,968)                   1,220,366              
Balance, September 30, 2012 21,120,281         2,329,034                 2,948,340        57,668             0                          4,877               161,482                 5,421,293           (5,774)             (651,568)                  31,385,633            

Additional subscription 23 1,455,641           (2,329,034)                873,392            -                   -                       -                   -                        -                      -                   -                           (1)                          
Repurchase of shares issued to non-controlling interests 24 -                     -                   -                   -                       -                   -                        (7,563)                 -                   7,563                        -                        
Acquisition of new partially-owned subsidiary 24,25 -                     -                   17,624              -                       -                   -                        -                      -                   69,040                      86,664                   
Noncontrolling interest in the subsidiary's investments 24 -                     -                   -                   -                       -                   -                        -                      -                   19,141                      19,141                   
Effects on noncontrolling interest -                     -                   -                   -                       -                   -                        -                      -                   -                           -                        

due to the loss of control over a subsidiary 24 -                     -                   -                   -                       -                   -                        (860,638)             -                   721,686                    (138,952)                
22,575,922         -                           3,821,732         75,292              0                           4,877               161,482                 4,553,092            (5,774)              165,862                    31,352,485            

Other comprehensive income
  Exchange differences on translating foreign operations 24,25 -                     -                   (3,615)               -                       -                   1,394                     -                      -                   (10,058)                     (12,279)                  
  Share in other comprehensive income of a joint venture 13 -                     -                   -                   -                       21,793              -                        -                      -                   -                           21,793                   

Profit (Loss) for the year 24 -                     -                   -                   -                       -                   -                        (307,022)             -                   (95,885)                     (402,907)                
Total comprehensive income (loss) -                     -                   (3,615)               -                       21,793              1,394                     (307,022)             -                   (105,943)                   (393,393)                
Balance, December 31, 2012 $22,575,922      -                           $3,821,732       $71,677            $0                        $26,670           $162,876               $4,246,070         ($5,774) $59,919                    $30,959,092          

Effects on noncontrolling interest -                     -                   -                   -                       -                   -                        -                      -                   -                           -                        
due to the loss of control over a subsidiary 24 -                     -                   -                   -                       -                   -                        -                      -                   -                        

22,575,922         3,821,732         71,677              0                           26,670              162,876                 4,246,070            (5,774)              59,919                      30,959,092            
Other comprehensive income

  Exchange differences on translating foreign operations 24,25 -                     -                   -                   -                       -                   25,603                   -                      -                   25,603                   
  Share in other comprehensive loss 13 -                     -                   -                   -                       -                   -                        -                      -                   (15,152)                     (15,152)                  

Profit (Loss) for the year 24 -                     -                   -                   -                       -                   -                        62,734                 -                   (301,993)                   (239,259)                
Total comprehensive income (loss) -                     -                   -                   -                       -                   25,603                   62,734                 -                   (317,145)                   (228,808)                
Balance, September 30, 2013 $22,575,922      $3,821,732       $71,677            $0                        $26,670           $188,479               $4,308,804         (5,774)             (257,226)                  $30,730,284          

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

Fair value on 
Investment 
Revaluation 

Reserve
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ALLIANCE SELECT FOODS INTERNATIONAL, INC. AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES
(Formerly Alliance Tuna International, Inc.)
UNAUDITED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(Amounts In U.S. Dollar)

Notes 2013 2012
Cash Flows from Operating Activities
Profit (Loss) before tax $137,243 $1,802,199
Adjustments for:

Finance costs 33 1,465,796                    1,207,067                    
Depreciation and amortization 14,28,29 1,113,874                    737,939                       
Share in loss (profit) of associates and joint venture 12,13 (75,531)                       51,780                         
Retirement benefit 21,28 91,909                         48,000                         
Exchange differences on translating foreign operations 25,603                        43,425                         
Interest income 7, 27 (9,732)                         (34,739)                        
Foreign exchange gain - net (696,945)                     -                              
Gain on sale of property, plant and equipment 15, 28 (545,393)                     -                              
Provision for doubtful accounts 8, 30 236,853                      -                              

Operating cash flows before working capital changes 1,743,676                    3,855,671                    
Decrease (Increase) in:

Trade and other receivables 2,603,408                    (2,404,565)                   
Inventories (5,008,799)                  (4,504,582)                   
Prepayments and other current assets (361,226)                     (1,765,022)                   
Other-non current assets (235,988)                     86,472                         

Increase in trade and other payables 1,979,437                    1,874,954                    
Cash used in operations 720,509                      (2,857,072)                   
Income tax paid (812,499)                     (156,260)                      
Net cash used in operating activities (91,990)                       (3,013,332)                   
Cash Flows from Investing Activities
Additions to property, plant and equipment 14 (1,326,307)                  (437,405)                      
Acquisition of investment in subsidiary -                              (500,000)                      
Due from related parties 92,305                        1,155,743                    
Other-non current assets (233,195)                     -                              
Acquisition of investment in associate (39,279)                       -                              
Interest income received 9,732                          34,739                         
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment 1,200,000                    -                              
Net cash used in investing activities (296,744)                     253,077                       
Cash Flows from Financing Activities
Proceeds from bank loans 45,593,982                  44,412,005                   
Payment of bank loans (45,819,196)                 (38,461,539)                 
Proceeds from issuance of capital stock -                              2,329,034                    
Finance costs paid (1,360,729)                  (1,066,872)                   
Proceeds from (Payment of)  due to related parties (352,428)                     15,191                         
Net cash from financing activities (1,938,371)                   7,227,819                    
Effects of Foreign Exchange Rate Changes -                              (247,595)                      

(2,327,104)                  4,219,969                    
Cash and Cash Equivalents, Beginning 4,191,826                    1,636,464                    
Cash and Cash Equivalents, End 7 $  1,864,722 $  5,856,433
See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

Net Increase (Decrease) in Cash and Cash Equivalents

For the Nine Months Ended September 30
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ALLIANCE SELECT FOODS INTERNATIONAL, INC. AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES 
(Formerly Alliance Tuna International, Inc.) 

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
AS AT SEPTEMBER 30, 2013 and DECEMBER 31, 2012 AND FOR THE NINE 
MONTHS ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2013 and 2012 
(Amounts In U.S. Dollar) 

1. CORPORATE INFORMATION 

Alliance Select Foods International, Inc. (the “Parent Company”) is a public corporation 
under Section 17.2 of the Securities Regulation Code (SRC) and was incorporated and 
registered in the Philippine Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) on  
September 1, 2003.  The Parent Company is primarily engaged in the business of   
manufacturing, canning, importing and exporting of food products such as marine, 
aquaculture and other processed seafoods.  Its shares are listed in the Philippine Stock 
Exchange (PSE) since November 8, 2006. 

Furthermore, the Parent Company was registered with the Board of Investments (BOI) on 
August 24, 2004 under the Omnibus Investments Code of 1987, otherwise known as 
Executive Order No. 226, on a non-pioneer status as new export producer of canned tuna 
and its by-product, fishmeal.  As such, the Parent Company is entitled to certain incentives 
such as income tax holiday (ITH) for four years plus three bonus years from the date of 
registration and subject for approval of extension by the BOI; tax credit on raw materials 
and supplies used for export products; and additional deduction for labor expense, subject to 
certain requirements under the terms of its BOI registration. The Parent Company has been 
granted by the BOI three years extension of ITH that ended on August 23, 2011.   

On July 1, 2010, the Board of Directors has resolved to change the corporate name from 
Alliance Tuna International, Inc. to Alliance Select Foods International, Inc.  The change in 
corporate name was then approved by the SEC on July 22, 2010. 

On November 25, 2011, SEC has approved the increase in the Parent Company’s authorized 
share capital from P950,000,000 divided into 950,000,000 shares to P1,500,000,000 divided 
into 1,500,000,000 shares having a par value of P1 per share. 

The financial position and results of operations of the Parent Company and its subsidiaries 
(the “Group”) are consolidated in these financial statements.  

The Parent Company’s principal place of business is located at Suites 1205, 1206 & 1405 
East Tower, Philippine Stock Exchange Centre, Exchange Road, Ortigas Center, Pasig City. 
It has plant facilities located in Barrio Tambler, General Santos City, Philippines. 

2. FINANCIAL REPORTING FRAMEWORK AND BASIS OF PREPARATION 
AND PRESENTATION 

Statement of Compliance 

The consolidated financial statements of the Group have been prepared in accordance with 
Philippine Financial Reporting Standards (PFRS), which includes all applicable PFRS, 
Philippine Accounting Standards (PAS), and interpretations issued by the International 
Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee (IFRIC), Philippine Interpretations 
Committee (PIC) and Standing Interpretations Committee (SIC) as approved by the 
Financial Reporting Standards Council (FRSC) and adopted by the SEC. 

PFRS is an International Financial Reporting Standards equivalent. 
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Basis of Preparation and Presentation 

The consolidated financial statements of the Group have been prepared on the historical 
cost basis, except for:  

• certain financial instruments carried at amortized cost; 

• inventories carried at the lower of cost or net realizable value; 

• biological assets measured at fair value less costs to sell;  

• retirement benefit obligation recognized at present value less fair value of plan assets, as 
adjusted by unrecognized past service cost and unrecognized actuarial gains and losses;  

• assets held-for-sale measured at the lower of carrying amount and fair value less cost to 
sell; and 

• land carried at revalued amount. 

Functional and Presentation Currency  

These consolidated financial statements are presented in U.S. Dollar, the currency of the 
primary economic environment in which the Group operates. All amounts are recorded in 
the nearest dollar, except when otherwise indicated. 

3. BASIS OF CONSOLIDATION AND COMPOSITION OF THE GROUP 

Basis of Consolidation 

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the Alliance 
Select Foods International, Inc. and all companies it controls (its subsidiaries).  Control is 
achieved when the Company has the power to govern the financial and operating policies of 
an entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities. 

Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date control exists and cease to be consolidated from 
the date the control is lost. 

Income and expenses of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the year are included in 
the consolidated statements of comprehensive income from the effective date of acquisition 
and up to the effective date of disposal, as appropriate.  Total comprehensive income of 
subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of the Company and to the non-controlling interest 
even if this results in the non-controlling interest having deficit. 

The Group accounting policies for business combination and intragroup transactions and 
balances are disclosed in Note 5, under significant accounting policies. 

Composition of the Group 

Details of the Parent Company’s subsidiaries as at September 30, 2013 are as follows: 

   Ownership Interests  Acquired/ 
Incorporated 

Date 2013 2012 2011 
PT International Alliance Food 

Indonesia (PTIAFI) 99.98% 99.98% 89.98% May 28, 2008 
Prime Foods New Zealand Limited 

(PFNZ) 
 

50.00% + 1 share 
 

50.00% + 1 share
 

50.00% + 1 share 
 

January 6, 2009 
Big Glory Bay Salmon and Seafood 

Company Inc. (BGB) 
 

50.00% + 1 share 
 

50.00% + 1 share
 

50.00% + 1 share  
 

October 29, 2009 
ASFI Choice Foods, Inc. (ASFIC) 100.00% 100.00% 100% April 11, 2011 
Spence & Company Ltd. (Spence) 100.00% 100.00% 100% August 10, 2011
Akaroa Salmon (NZ) Ltd. (Akaroa) 80.00% 80.00% - October 1, 2012 
Alliance MHI Properties, Inc. (AMHI) - - 40.00% June 18, 2010 
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The principal activities and other details of the subsidiaries are as follows: 

PTIAFI  

PTIAFI was established under the Indonesian law within the framework of the Foreign 
Capital Investment Law No. 25 year 2007 based on Notarial Deed No. 101 dated 
May 21, 2001.  The Deed of Establishment was approved by the Minister of Justice of the 
Republic of Indonesia in the Decision Letter No. AHU-24298.AH.01.01 dated May 28, 
2008.   

PTIAFI is primarily engaged in canned fish processing exclusively for international market.  
The plant is located at JI. Raya Madidir Kelurahan Madidir Unet Ling. II Kecamatan 
Madidir, Bitung, Indonesia. 

This investment in PTIAFI provides the Company with access to the rich Indonesian marine 
resources. 

On February 10, 2012, the Parent Company has purchased 500,000 shares of PT Wailan 
Pratama, a fishing company, at book value for $500,000 which has been approved by the 
Indonesia Investment Coordinating Board and the Department of Law and Human Rights 
in accordance to Indonesian Law. This event has increased Parent’s stake in PTIAFI from 
89.98% as at December 31, 2010 to 99.98% on February 10, 2012 and as at 
December 31, 2012. 

The boost in stake by the Parent Company is being done at a time when the Group plans to 
aggressively increase its production and marketing efforts in Indonesia. Indonesia is 
extremely rich in marine resources and full control of PTIAFI will enable the Group tap 
additional export markets around the globe. 

On December 20, 2011, PTIAFI has founded and established PT Van de Zee (VDZ) under 
the current Indonesian law with 80% percentage ownership and is considered a subsidiary of 
PTIAFI.  VDZ will be operating in integration with the tuna processing activities of 
PTIAFI.  VDZ’s establishment as a foreign investment company has been approved by the 
Indonesian Investment Coordinating Board or Bedan Koordinasi Penanaman Modal and 
Ministry of Laws and Human Rights of the Republic of Indonesia. 

Indonesia’s Ministry of Fisheries and Marine Resources has accepted fees from VDZ for an 
initial allocation of 5,000 metric tons for 2012. Conditional on the fulfillment of its five-year 
vessel acquisition program, VDZ has a potential allocation of 30,000 metric tons by 2016. 
This means by that year, VDZ would be able to support a 100% capacity utilization of 
PTIAFI’s processing plant which has a capacity of 90 metric tons per day. 

On May 26, 2010 the Board of Directors authorized the Company to increase its equity 
investment in PTIAFI from $825,600 to $4,499,000 by converting its outstanding cash 
advances in the amount of $3,673,400 into equity and applying the same as payment for the 
additional 3,673,400 shares at a par value of $1.00.  The percentage ownership thus increased 
from 79.92% as at December 31, 2009 to 89.98% as at December 31, 2010.  The Company’s 
joint venture partner in the subsidiary, PT Wailan Pratama, also converted part of its 
advances and increase its shareholdings from 206,400 shares as at December 31, 2009 to 
500,001 shares as at December 31, 2010 with a par value of $1.00. 
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PFNZ 

PFNZ is a company domiciled in New Zealand and is registered under the Companies Act 
of 1993 on September 8, 1993.  The Ministry of Economic Development assigned company 
number 625998 to PFNZ as part of its registration process.   

PFNZ is primarily engaged in the business of processing, manufacturing and distributing 
smoked salmon and other seafoods under the Prime Smoke and Studholme brand for 
distribution in New Zealand and other countries. The investment in PFNZ is the first 
venture of the Company in the salmon business. The plant is located in Hororata RD2 
Darfield, New Zealand. 

 

BGB 

BGB is a joint venture between the Parent Company and its New Zealand-based subsidiary 
PFNZ. It was established primarily to engage in the business of manufacturing goods such 
as salmon and other processed seafoods.  It was registered with the Philippine SEC on 
October 29, 2009 with registration number CS200916903.  Its registered address is located at 
Suite 1205 East Tower, Philippine Stock Exchange Centre, Exchange Road, Ortigas Center, 
Pasig City, Philippines and its plant facilities is located at Barrio Tambler, General Santos 
City, Philippines.  

The investment in salmon processing allows the Company to be the dominant player in the 
smoked salmon industry in the region and to continue on a path towards further product 
and resource diversification. 

BGB started its commercial operation on August 1, 2011.  

ASFIC 

On April 11, 2011, the Company established ASFIC in Massachusetts, USA to serve as the 
Company’s vehicle in making investments in or acquisitions of other companies.  ASFIC 
does not have any revenue nor expenses as the Parent Company used it solely to acquire 
investments. ASFIC’s net assets as at December 31, 2012 and 2011 amounted to $10,000. 

 

SPENCE 

On August 10, 2011, the Parent Company acquired 100% of the issued share capital of 
Spence, located at No. 76 Campanelli Drive, Brockton MA 02301 USA, for a cash 
consideration of $9,240,946 resulting in recognition of goodwill amounting to $7,451,946. 
Spence specializes in the production of smoked salmon and other seafoods.  Its processing 
facilities cover an area of 20,000 square meters with a rated capacity of 6 metric tons per day.   

The investment in salmon processing allows the Group to diversify its product line to take 
advantage of the changing food consumption patterns around the globe, address the issue of 
sourcing raw materials and improve overall margins and profitability. 
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As at August 10, 2011, Spence’s financial position was as follows: 

ASSETS  
Current Assets   
Cash  $1,085,072
Accounts receivables – net  541,017
Inventories 416,488
Tax refund receivable  41,000
Prepaid expenses  5,261
Deferred tax assets 64,089

  2,152,927
Non-current Asset 
Property and equipment – net  359,496

  $2,512,423

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
Current Liabilities  
Accounts payable and accrued expenses  $   613,070
Note payable 7,762

  620,832
Non-current Liability 
Deferred tax liability  102,591

 723,423

Equity  
Share capital 100
Retained earnings  1,788,900

  1,789,000

 $2,512,423

Goodwill arising from acquisition on August 10, 2011 amounted to $7,451,946, computed as 
follows: 

Investment  $9,240,946
Net assets 1,789,000

Goodwill $7,451,946

For consolidation purposes, only the results of operations from the date of Group’s 
acquisition up to the end of reporting period was included in the consolidated statements of 
comprehensive income for the quarter ended March 31, 2013 and 2012. 

AKAROA 

On October 1, 2012, the Company acquired 80% of the issued shares of Akaroa with a fair 
value of $276,161 at a purchase price of $2,326,800, resulting in a goodwill amounting to 
$2,050,639, recognized in the consolidated financial statements. Akaroa is a company 
incorporated and domiciled in New Zealand and is registered under the Companies Act of 
1993.  Its principal office is located in 9 Pope Street Riccarton, Christchurch New Zealand.  
Akaroa is engaged in the business of sea cage salmon farming and operates two marine 
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farms in Akaroa Harbor, South Island, New Zealand.  It also processes fresh and smoked 
salmon. 

Akaroa also holds 20% stake in Salmon Smolt NZ Ltd., a modern hatchery quarantining 
high quality and consistent supply of smolts (juvenile salmon) for its farm.   

The Group financed this acquisition through a private placement of its authorized unissued 
shares. The investment in Akaroa will further strengthen the Group’s salmon products. 

As at October 1, 2012, Akaroa’s financial positions were as follows: 

ASSETS   
Current Assets   
Cash  $  40,060
Trade and other receivables 207,948
Other short term financial assets  25,799
Inventories and biological asset  106,333
Other current asset 1,314

  381,454

Non-current Asset  
Property, plant and equipment  276,416
Investment in associates 28,254
Intangible assets  96,390
Other non-current assets  1,761

  402,821

  $784,275

 

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
Current Liabilities  
Trade and other payables  $233,680
Loans payable – current 163,909

  397,589
Non-current Liability 
Loans payable - net of current  41,485

  439,074

Equity 
Share capital 13,275
Reserves  207,935
Retained earnings  123,991

  345,201

  $784,275
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Goodwill arising from acquisition on October 1, 2012 amounted to $2,050,639, computed as 
follows: 

Investment  $2,326,800
Net assets at 80% 276,161

Goodwill $2,050,639

For consolidation purposes, only the results of operations from the date of Group’s 
acquisition up to the end of reporting period was included in the consolidated statements of 
comprehensive income for the quarter ended March 31, 2013 and 2012. 

AMHI 

AMHI was established primarily to engage as a property holding arm of the Group.  It was 
registered with the Philippine SEC on June 18, 2010 with registration number CS201009131.  
Its registered address is located at Purok Salayda, Barangay Tambler, General Santos City, 
Philippines. 

AMHI is a Special Purpose Entity (SPE) and considered as a subsidiary of the Parent 
Company. As an SPE, AMHI conducts its normal operations by exclusively allowing the 
members of the Group to make use of its properties under lease agreements. 

On December 12, 2012, the Parent Company’s officers who held key positions in AMHI 
resigned from AMHI. Moreover, on December 28, 2012, AMHI sold a substantial portion 
of its assets to the Parent Company to settle amounts due to the latter. 

Effective December 28, 2012, the Parent Company ceased to exercise control over AMHI 
and had reduced financial interest, but continued to have significant influence over AMHI as 
disclosed in Note 6.  

4. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED ACCOUNTING STANDARDS 

Adoption of New and Revised Accounting Standards Effective in 2012 

The following new and revised accounting standards that have been published by the 
International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) and issued by the FRSC in the Philippines 
were adopted by the Group effective January 1, 2012: 

Amendments to PFRS 7, Financial Instruments: Disclosures 

The amendments permit users of financial statements to understand transactions involving 
the transfer of financial assets (for example, securitizations), including the possible effects of 
any risk that may remain with the entity that transfer the assets. These amendments also 
require additional disclosures if a disproportionate amount of transfer transactions are 
undertaken around the end of a reporting period.  The amendments increase the disclosure 
requirements for transactions involving the transfer of financial assets in order to provide 
greater transparency around risk exposures when financial assets are transferred. 

The amendments did not have a significant impact in the Group’s consolidated financial 
statements. 

PIC Q&A 2011-02, PFRS 3.2, Common Control Business Combinations 

The interpretation provides guidance on accounting for business combinations involving 
entities under common control that are excluded from the scope of PFRS 3, Business 
Combinations.  It clarifies that common control business combinations are typically accounted 
for using the pooling of interests method.  In some cases, the acquisition method under 
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PFRS 3 can be used where common control business combinations have commercial 
substance.  This interpretation also includes factors that may be considered when evaluating 
whether the business combinations have commercial substance or none.  

The interpretation did not have a significant impact to the Group’s consolidated financial 
statements. 

PIC Q&A 2011-03, Accounting for Intercompany Loans 

The interpretation provides guidance on the accounting treatment of an interest free or 
below market interest rate loan among group companies.  It includes discussion on the 
treatment of the different types of intercompany loans in the books of the parent company 
and subsidiaries, impairment assessment, and disclosure requirements.   

The interpretation did not have a significant impact to the Group’s consolidated financial 
statements. 

PIC Q&A 2011-04, PAS 32.37-38, Costs of Public Offering of Shares 

The interpretation provides guidance on the accounting treatment of costs on public 
offering of shares that involves issuing new shares and a listing with the stock exchange.  
This interpretation clarifies that the costs of listing shares are not considered as costs of an 
equity transaction since no equity instrument has been issued and such costs are recognized 
as an expense in the consolidated profit or loss when incurred.  The interpretation discusses 
the nature of the costs of public offering of shares and certain examples of allocations when 
the joint transaction costs relate to more than one share issuance or listing transaction.   

The interpretation did not have a significant impact to the Group’s consolidated financial 
statements. 

PIC Q&A 2011-05, PFRS 1.D1-D8, Fair Value or Revaluation as Deemed Cost 

The interpretation provides guidance on the accounting treatment of revaluation increment 
of property, plant and equipment when revalued amounts are accounted for as “deemed 
cost” at the date of transition to PFRS.  It requires that the revaluation increment be closed 
to opening retained earnings and not to other equity category.  The interpretation also 
requires that the amount of revaluation surplus closed to retained earnings shall not form 
part of retained earnings available for dividend distribution.  Furthermore, it discusses the 
disclosure requirements and criteria on when to include a third statement of financial 
position relating to revaluation increment of property, plant and equipment accounted for as 
“deemed cost”.   

The interpretation did not have a significant impact to the Group’s consolidated financial 
statements. 

New Accounting Standards Effective after the Reporting Period Ended December 
31, 2012  

The Group will adopt the following PFRS when these become effective and to the extent 
applicable: 

Amendments to PAS 1, Presentation of Financial Statements 

The amendments require companies preparing financial statements in accordance with 
PFRSs to group items of other comprehensive income into items that may or may not be 
reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent periods. The amendments also reaffirm existing 
requirements that items in other comprehensive income and profit or loss should be 
presented as either in a single statement or two consecutive statements. The amendments are 
effective for annual periods beginning on or after July 1, 2012 with early application 
permitted.  
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Future adoption of the amendments will have no material effect on the Group’s 
consolidated financial statements. 

Amendments to PAS 19, Employee Benefits 

The amendments change the accounting for defined benefit plans and termination benefits. 
These amendments require the recognition of changes in defined benefit obligations and in 
fair value of plan assets as it occur, thus, resulting in the elimination of the “corridor 
approach” as previously permitted under PAS 19.  These also require acceleration in the 
recognition of past service costs and the immediate recognition of all actuarial gains and 
losses through other comprehensive income.  In effect, the net pension asset or liability 
recognized in the statements of financial position shall be presented in its full value whether 
it is a plan deficit or surplus.  The amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on 
or after January 1, 2013 with early application permitted. 

Future adoption of the amendments will have no material effect on the Group’s 
consolidated financial statements. 

PAS 27, Separate Financial Statements (as amended in 2011) 

The standard outlines the accounting and disclosure requirements for separate financial 
statements, which are the financial statements prepared by a parent, or an investor in a joint 
venture or associate, where those investments are accounted for either at cost or in 
accordance with PAS 39, Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement or PFRS 9, Financial 
Instruments.  The standard also outlines the accounting treatment and additional disclosure 
requirements for dividends.  The amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on 
or after January 1, 2013 with early application permitted. 

Future adoption of the amendments will have no material effect on the Group’s 
consolidated financial statements. 

PAS 28, Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures (as amended in 2011) 

The standard outlines the application, with certain limited exceptions, of the equity method 
to investments in associates and joint ventures. The standard also defines an associate by 
reference to the concept of "significant influence", which requires power to participate in 
financial and operating policy decisions of an investee (but not joint control or control of 
those polices).  The amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 
January 1, 2013 with early application permitted. 

Future adoption of the amendments will have no material effect on the Group’s 
consolidated financial statements. 

Amendments to PFRS 7, Financial Instruments: Disclosures on Asset and Liability Offsetting 

The amendments include new disclosure requirements that pertain to all recognized financial 
instruments that are set off in accordance with paragraph 42 of PAS 32, Financial Instruments: 
Presentation.  The amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 
January 1, 2013. 

Future adoption of the amendments will have no material effect on the Group’s 
consolidated financial statements. 

PFRS 10, Consolidated Financial Statements 

The standard establishes principles for the presentation and preparation of consolidated 
financial statements when an entity controls one or more entities.  This standard also 
includes a new definition of control that contains three elements: (a) power over an investee, 
(b) exposure or rights to variable returns from its involvement with the investee, and (c) the 
ability to use its power over the investee to affect the amount of the investor's returns.  
Extensive guidance has been added in this standard to deal with complex scenarios.  The 
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standard is effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2013, with earlier 
application permitted.   

Future adoption of the standards will have no material effect on the Group’s consolidated 
financial statements. 

PFRS 11, Joint Arrangements 

The standard deals on how a joint arrangement be classified when two or more parties have 
joint control. Under this standard, joint arrangements are classified as joint operations or 
joint ventures, depending on the rights and obligations of the parties to the arrangements.  
In addition, investments in joint ventures under this standard are required to be accounted 
for using the equity method of accounting. The standard is effective for annual periods 
beginning on or after January 1, 2013, with earlier application permitted. 

Future adoption of the standards will have no material effect on the Group’s consolidated 
financial statements. 

PFRS 12, Disclosures of Interest in Other Entities  

The standard requires companies to disclose information about its interests in subsidiaries, 
joint arrangements, associates and/or unconsolidated structured entities. The disclosure 
requirements in this standard are more extensive than those in the current standards.  The 
standard is effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2013, with earlier 
application permitted.  

Future adoption of the standards will have no material effect on the Group’s consolidated 
financial statements.  

Amendments to PFRS 10, PFRS 11 and PFRS 12, Consolidated Financial Statements, Joint 
Arrangements and Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities: Transition Guidance 

The amendments clarify certain transitional guidance on the application of PFRS 10, PFRS 
11 and PFRS 12.  The major clarifications are as follows: 

• The amendments define the date of initial application of PFRS 10 as the beginning of 
the annual reporting period in which this standard is applied for the first time. 

• The amendments clarify how a reporting entity should adjust comparative period(s) 
retrospectively if the consolidation conclusion reached at the date of initial application 
under PFRS 10 is different from that under PAS 27/ SIC-12.  

• When the control over an investee was lost during the comparative period (e.g. as a 
result of a disposal), the amendments state that there is no need to adjust the 
comparative figures retrospectively even though a different consolidation conclusion 
might have been reached under PAS 27/SIC-12 and PFRS 10.  

• When a reporting entity concludes, on the basis of the requirements of PFRS 10, that it 
should consolidate an investee that was not previously consolidated, the entity should 
apply acquisition accounting in accordance with PFRS 3, Business Combinations to measure 
assets, liabilities and non-controlling interests of the investee at the date when the entity 
obtained control of the investee.  The amendments clarify which version of PFRS 3 
should be used in different scenarios.  

• The amendments provide additional relief by limiting the requirement to present 
adjusted comparative information to the period immediately before the date of initial 
application.  These amendments also eliminate the requirements to present comparative 
information for disclosures related to unconsolidated structured entities for any period 
before the first annual period in which PFRS 12 is applied. 
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• The effective date of the amendments is aligned with the effective dates of PFRS 10, 
PFRS 11 and PFRS 12.  

• The Group has yet to determine the impact of the future adoption of the amendments 
to PFRS 7 in the consolidated financial statements. 

Future adoption of the amendments will have no material effect on the Group’s 
consolidated financial statements. 

PFRS 13, Fair Value Measurement  

The standard establishes a single source of guidance and disclosure requirements for fair 
value measurements. The scope of PFRS 13 applies to both financial instrument and non-
financial instrument items for which other PFRSs require or permit fair value measurements 
and disclosures, except in specified circumstances. The disclosure requirements in PFRS 13 
are more extensive than those required in the current standards. The standard is effective for 
annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2013, with earlier application permitted.  

Future adoption of the standards will have no material effect on the Group’s consolidated 
financial statements. 

IFRIC 20, Stripping Costs in the Production Phase of a Surface Mine 

The interpretation sets the accounting for the benefits arising from stripping activity in the 
production phase of surface mining operations. The interpretation is effective for annual 
periods beginning on or after January 1, 2013, with early application permitted. 

Future adoption of the interpretations will have no material effect on the Group’s 
consolidated financial statements. 

Annual Improvements to PFRSs 2009-2011 Cycle 

The annual improvements address the following issues:  

Amendments to PFRS 1, First-Time Adoption of PFRS  

The amendments provide a policy option for entities that stopped applying PFRSs and will 
resume reporting under PFRS after a certain period of time.  These entities may either 
prepare financial statements in accordance with PFRS 1 or apply all applicable PFRS 
retrospectively in accordance with PAS 8, Accounting Policies, Changes in Estimates and 
Errors as if the entity had never stopped applying PFRS.  The amendments also clarify that 
upon adoption of PFRS, the entity who capitalized borrowing cost under previous GAAP, 
need not adjust the said borrowing cost in its opening statement of financial position at the 
date of transition.  Furthermore, the amendments also require entities to account for 
borrowing cost incurred on qualifying assets already under construction in accordance with 
PAS 23 on or after the said date. 

Future adoption of the amendments will have no material effect on the Group’s 
consolidated financial statements. 

Amendment to PAS 1, Presentation of Financial Statements 

The amendments clarify that: 

• the minimum required comparative period is the preceding period;  
• when an entity prepares financial statements and voluntarily includes more than the 

minimum comparative information, it shall include comparative information in related 
notes; and  

• when an entity is required to present a third statement of financial position, it shall not 
be required to include the comparative information in related notes.  
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Future adoption of the standards will have no material effect on the Group’s consolidated 
financial statements. 

Amendments to PAS 16, Property, Plant and Equipment 

The amendments clarify that spare parts, stand-by or servicing equipment are required to be 
classified as property, plant and equipment when they meet the definition of property, plant 
and equipment, and shall only be classified as inventory when it does not meet the definition 
of property, plant and equipment.  

Future adoption of the amendments will have no material effect on the Group’s 
consolidated financial statements. 

Amendments to PAS 32, Financial Instruments: Presentation 

The amendments clarify that income tax relating to distributions to holders of an equity 
transactions are required to be accounted for in accordance with PAS 12, Income Taxes. This 
may result in items of income tax being recognized in equity or in profit or loss. 

Future adoption of the amendments will have no material effect on the Group’s 
consolidated financial statements. 

Amendments to PAS 34, Interim Financial Reporting 

The amendments clarify that the total assets and liabilities for a particular reportable segment 
need to be disclosed only when the amounts are regularly provided to the chief operating 
decision maker and there has been a material change in the total assets and liabilities for the 
segment from the amount disclosed in the last annual financial statements.  

The above improvements are effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 
2013 and shall be applied retrospectively.  However, early application of these improvements 
is permitted. 

Future adoption of the amendments will have no material effect on the Group’s 
consolidated financial statements. 

Amendments to PAS 32, Financial Instruments: Presentation 

The amendments provide clarifications on the application of the offsetting rules of financial 
assets and financial liabilities. The amendment is effective for annual periods beginning on 
or after January 1, 2014. 

Future adoption of the amendments will have no material effect on the Group’s 
consolidated financial statements. 

PFRS 9, Financial Instruments 

The standard requires all recognized financial assets that are within the scope of PAS 39 
Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement to be subsequently measured at amortized 
cost or at fair value.  Specifically, debt investments that are held within a business model 
whose objective is to collect the contractual cash flows, and that have contractual cash flows 
that are solely for payments of principal and interest on the outstanding balance are generally 
measured at amortized cost at the end of subsequent reporting periods.  All other debt 
investments and equity investments are measured at their fair values at the end of 
subsequent reporting periods. 

For financial liabilities that are designated as at fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL), the 
amount of change in the fair value of the financial liability that is attributable to changes in 
the credit risk of that liability is presented in other comprehensive income, unless the 
recognition of the effects of changes in the liability's credit risk in other comprehensive 
income would create or increase an accounting mismatch in profit or loss.  Changes in fair 
value attributable to a financial liability's credit risk are not subsequently reclassified to profit 
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or loss. The standard is effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2015, 
with earlier application permitted. 

Future adoption of the standards will have no material effect on the Group’s consolidated 
financial statement. 

5. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

Business Combination 

The Group applies the acquisition method to account for business combinations. Under this 
method, assets and liabilities and contingent liabilities of a subsidiary are measured at their 
fair values at the date of acquisition.  Any excess of the cost of acquisition over the fair 
values of the identifiable net assets acquired is recognized as goodwill.  Any deficiency of the 
cost of acquisition below the fair values of the identifiable net assets acquired, i.e. discount 
on acquisition, is credited to profit and loss in the period of acquisition.  The interest of non-
controlling shareholders is stated at the non-controlling proportion of the fair values of the 
assets and liabilities recognized.  

At the acquisition date, the Group measures the components of non-controlling interests in 
the subsidiary that are present ownership interests and entitle the holders to a proportionate 
share of the entity’s net assets in the event of liquidation at either at fair value; or at the 
present ownership instruments’ proportionate share in the recognized amounts of the 
acquiree’s identifiable net assets. All other components of non-controlling interests shall be 
measured at their acquisition date fair values, unless another measurement basis is required 
by PFRSs. 

Changes in ownership interests in subsidiaries without change of control 

Transactions with non-controlling interests that do not result in loss of control are 
accounted for as equity transactions (i.e., transactions with owners in their capacity as 
owners). The difference between fair value of any consideration paid and the relevant share 
acquired of the carrying value of net assets of the subsidiary is recorded in equity. Gains or 
losses on disposals to non-controlling interests are also recorded in equity. 

Disposal of subsidiaries 

When the Group ceases to have control, any retained interest in the entity is remeasured to 
its fair value at the date when control is lost, with the change in carrying amount recognized 
in the consolidated profit or loss. The fair value is the initial carrying amount for the 
purposes of subsequently accounting for the retained interest as an associate, joint venture or 
financial asset. In addition, any amounts previously recognized in other comprehensive 
income in respect of that entity are accounted for as if the Group had directly disposed of 
the related assets or liabilities. This may result in amounts previously recognized in other 
comprehensive income being reclassified to profit or loss. 

Goodwill  

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is carried at cost as established at the date of 
acquisition of the business less accumulated impairment losses, if any.  

For purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to each of the Group's cash-
generating units (CGUs) that are expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination.  

A CGU to which goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment annually, or more 
frequently when there is indication that the unit may be impaired.  If the recoverable amount 
of the CGU is less than its carrying amount, the impairment loss is allocated first to reduce 
the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the unit and then to the other assets of the 
unit pro rata based on the carrying amount of each asset in the unit.  Any impairment loss 
for goodwill is recognized directly in profit or loss in the consolidated statements of 
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comprehensive income.  An impairment loss recognized for goodwill is not reversed in 
subsequent periods. 

On disposal of the relevant CGU, the attributable amount of goodwill is included in the 
determination of the profit or loss on disposal. 

Intragroup Transactions and Balances 

The consolidated financial statements were prepared using uniform accounting policies for 
like transactions and other events in similar circumstances. Intergroup balances and 
transactions, including inter group profits and unrealized profits and losses, are eliminated.  
When necessary, adjustments are made to the consolidated financial statements of 
subsidiaries to bring the accounting policies used in line with those used by the Parent 
Company. All intra-group transactions, balances, income and expenses are eliminated in the 
consolidation. 

Financial Assets 

Initial recognition of financial assets 

Financial assets are recognized in the Group’s financial statements when the Group becomes 
a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.  Financial assets are recognized 
initially at fair value.  Transaction costs are included in the initial measurement of the 
Group’s financial assets, except for investments classified at FVTPL.   

Classification of financial assets 

Financial assets are classified into the following specified categories: financial assets FVTPL, 
held-to-maturity investments, available-for-sale financial assets and loans and receivables.  
The classification depends on the nature and purpose of the financial assets and is 
determined at the time of initial recognition.  Currently, the Group’s financial assets consist 
of loan and receivables. 

Loans and receivables 

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable 
payments that are not quoted in an active market.  Loans and receivables are measured at 
amortized cost using the effective interest method, less any impairment and are included in 
current assets, except for maturities greater than 12 months after the end of the reporting 
period.  

Interest income is recognized by applying the effective interest rate, except for short-term 
receivables when the recognition of interest would be immaterial.  The Group’s financial 
assets classified under this category include cash and cash equivalents, trade and other 
receivables, due from related parties, and refundable lease deposit under other non-current 
assets. 

Effective interest method 

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortized cost of a debt 
instrument and of allocating interest income over the relevant period.  The effective interest 
rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts through the expected life 
of the debt instrument or, when appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying amount on 
initial recognition. 

Income is recognized on effective interest basis for debt instruments other than those assets 
classified as at FVTPL. 

 



29 
 

Impairment of financial assets 

Financial assets, other than those at FVTPL, are assessed for indicators of impairment at the 
end of each reporting period.  Financial assets are considered to be impaired when there is 
objective evidence that, as a result of one or more events that occurred after the initial 
recognition of the financial asset, the estimated future cash flows of the investment have 
been affected. 

Objective evidence of impairment 

For all financial assets carried at amortized cost, objective evidence of impairment could 
include: 

• significant financial difficulty of the issuer or counterparty; or 

• breach of contract, such as default or delinquency in interest or principal payments; or 

• it has become probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or financial re-
organization; or 

• default or delinquency in interest or principal payments; or 

• the lender, for economic or legal reasons relating to the borrower’s financial difficulty, 
granting to the borrower a concession that the lender would not otherwise consider; or 

• observable data indicating that there is a measurable decrease in the estimated future cash 
flows from a group of financial assets since the initial recognition of those assets, 
although the decrease cannot yet be identified with the individual financial assets in the 
Group. 

For certain categories of financial asset, such as trade receivables, assets that are assessed not 
to be impaired individually are, in addition, assessed for impairment on a collective basis.  
Objective evidence of impairment for a portfolio of receivables could include the Group’s 
experience of collecting payments, an increase in the number of delayed payments in the 
portfolio past the average credit period as well as observable changes in national or local 
economic conditions that correlate with default on receivables. 

Financial assets carried at amortized cost 

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on loans and receivables carried at 
amortized cost has been incurred, the amount of the loss is measured as the difference 
between the asset's carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows, 
excluding future credit losses that have not been incurred, discounted at the financial asset’s 
original effective interest rate, i.e., the effective interest rate computed at initial recognition.   

The carrying amount of financial assets carried at amortized cost is reduced directly by the 
impairment loss with the exception of trade receivables, wherein the carrying amount is 
reduced through the use of an allowance account.  When trade receivables are considered 
uncollectible, these are written off against the allowance account.  Subsequent recoveries of 
amounts previously written off are credited against the allowance account.  Changes in the 
carrying amount of the allowance account are recognized in consolidated profit or loss. 

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can 
be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was recognized, the 
previously recognized impairment loss shall be reversed.  The reversal shall not result in a 
carrying amount of the financial asset that exceeds what the amortized cost would have been 
had the impairment not been recognized at the date the impairment is reversed.  The 
amount of the reversal shall be recognized in consolidated profit or loss. 
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Offsetting financial instruments 

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount is reported in the statements of 
financial position when there is a legally enforceable right to offset the recognized amounts 
and there is an intention to settle on a net basis or realize the asset and settle the liability 
simultaneously. 

Derecognition of financial assets 

The Group derecognizes a financial asset only when the contractual rights to the cash flows 
from the asset expire; or when the Group transfers the financial asset and substantially all 
the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another entity.  The difference between 
the carrying amount of the financial asset derecognized and the consideration received or 
receivable is recognized in consolidated profit or loss. 

If the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership 
and continues to control the transferred asset, the Group recognizes its retained interest in 
the asset and an associated liability for amounts it may have to pay.  If the Group retains 
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of a transferred financial asset, the 
Group continues to recognize the financial asset and also recognizes a collateralized 
borrowing for the proceeds received. 

Inventories 

Inventories are measured initially at cost. Costs comprise direct materials, direct labor costs 
and those overheads incurred in bringing the inventories to their present location and 
condition. Subsequently, inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realizable value.  
Cost is calculated using the weighted average method.  Net realizable value represents the 
estimated selling price less all estimated costs of completion and costs to be incurred in 
marketing, selling and distributing the goods. 

When the net realizable value of the inventories is lower than the cost, the Group provides 
for an allowance for the decline in the value of the inventory and recognizes the write-down 
as an expense in the consolidated statements of comprehensive income.  The amount of any 
reversal of any write-down of inventories, arising from an increase in net realizable value, is 
recognized as a reduction in the amount of inventories recognized as an expense in the 
period in which the reversal occurs. 

When inventories are sold, the carrying amount of those inventories is recognized as an 
expense in the period in which the related revenue is recognized. 

Prepayments 

Prepayments represent expenses not yet incurred but already paid in cash.  Prepayments are 
initially recorded as assets and measured at the amount of cash paid.  Subsequently, these are 
charged to consolidated profit or loss as they are consumed in operations or expire with the 
passage of time. 

Prepayments are classified in the consolidated statements of financial position as current 
assets when the cost of goods or services related to the prepayments are expected to be 
incurred within one year or the Group’s normal operating cycle, whichever is longer.  
Otherwise, prepayments are classified as non-current assets.   

Special Purpose Entities (SPEs) 

An SPE is consolidated if, based on an evaluation of the substance of its relationship with 
the Group and the SPEs’ risks and rewards, the Group concludes that it controls an SPE.  
SPE controlled by the Group are established under terms that impose strict limitations on 
the decision-making powers of the SPE’s management enabling the Group to receive the 
majority of the benefits related to the SPE’s operations and net assets, exposing the Group 
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to the majority of risks incident to the SPE’s activities, and retaining the majority of the 
residual or ownership risks related to the SPE’s or their assets. 

Investments in Associates 

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant influence and that is neither a 
subsidiary nor an interest in a joint venture.  Significant influence is the power to participate 
in the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee but is not control or joint 
control over those policies. 

The results of operation and assets and liabilities of an associate are incorporated in these 
consolidated financial statements using the equity method of accounting, except when the 
investment is classified as held-for-sale.  Investment in an associate is carried in the 
consolidated statements of financial position at cost as adjusted for post-acquisition changes 
in the Group’s share of the net assets of the associate, less any impairment in the value of 
individual investments.  Losses of an associate in excess of the Group’s interest in that 
associate are recognized only to the extent that the Group has incurred legal or constructive 
obligations or made payments on behalf of the associate. 

Any excess of the cost of acquisition over the Group’s share of the fair values of the 
identifiable net assets of the associate at the date of acquisition is recognized as goodwill.  
Goodwill is included within the carrying amount of the investments and is assessed for 
impairment as part of that investment.  Any deficiency of the cost of acquisition below the 
Group’s share of the fair values of the identifiable net assets of the associate at the date of 
acquisition, i.e. discount on acquisition is immediately recognized in consolidated profit or 
loss in the period of acquisition. 

When a group entity transacts with its associate, profits and losses resulting from the 
transactions with the associate are recognized in the Group's consolidated financial 
statements only to the extent of interests in the associate that are not related to the Group. 

The Group’s accounting policy for impairment of financial assets is applied to determine 
whether it is necessary to recognize any impairment loss with respect to its investment in an 
associate.  When necessary, the entire carrying amount of the investment, including goodwill, 
is tested for impairment in accordance with the Group’s accounting policy on impairment of 
tangible and intangible assets as a single asset by comparing its recoverable amount, higher 
of value in use and fair value less costs to sell, with its carrying amount, any impairment loss 
recognized forms part of the carrying amount of the investment.  Any reversal of that 
impairment loss is recognized to the extent that the recoverable amount of the investment 
subsequently increases. 

Investments in a Joint Venture 

A joint venture is a contractual arrangement whereby the Group and other parties undertake 
an economic activity which is subject to joint control (i.e. when the strategic financial and 
operating policy decisions relating to the activities of the joint venture require the unanimous 
consent of the parties sharing control). 

Joint venture arrangements that involve the establishment of a separate entity in which each 
venturer has an interest are referred to as jointly controlled entities.  The Group reports its 
interests in jointly controlled entities using the equity method of accounting, except when 
the investment is classified as held-for-sale.  

Under the equity method, investments in a joint venture is carried in the consolidated 
statements of financial position at cost as adjusted thereafter to recognize the Group’s share 
of the profit or loss and other comprehensive income of the joint venture. When the 
Group’s share of losses of a joint venture exceeds the Group’s interest in that joint venture, 
which includes any long-term interests that, in substance, form part of the Group’s net 
investment in a joint venture, the Group discontinues recognizing its share of further losses. 
Additional losses are recognized only to the extent that the Group has incurred legal or 
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constructive obligations or made payments on behalf of the joint venture. From the date the 
Group disposes of its interest or when such external restrictions are placed on a jointly 
controlled entity that the Group no longer has joint control, the Group shall discontinue the 
use of equity method. 

When the Group transacts with its jointly controlled entity, profits and losses resulting from 
the transactions with the jointly controlled entity are recognized in the Group's consolidated 
financial statements only to the extent of interests in the jointly controlled entity that are not 
related to the Group.  

The investment in a joint venture is derecognized upon disposal or when no future 
economic benefits are expected to arise from the investment.   Gain or loss arising on the 
disposal is determined as the difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount 
of the investment in a joint venture and is recognized in consolidated profit or loss.  

Biological Assets 

Biological assets or agricultural produce are recognized only when the Group controls the 
assets as a result of past events, it is probable that future economic benefits associated with 
the assets will flow to the Group and the fair value or cost of the assets can be measured 
reliably. 

The Group measures its biological assets on initial recognition, and at the end of each 
reporting period, at fair value less estimated costs to sell. Estimated costs to sell include 
commissions to brokers and dealers, levies by regulatory agencies and commodity exchanges, 
and transfer taxes and duties.  

The Group, through Akaroa, was permitted by New Zealand Inland Revenue Department 
(IRD) to use the national average market values issued by IRD as a proxy for fair value of a 
class of livestock, provided that such values are applied consistent to a class of livestock. The 
cost of biological assets per IRD approval stated that the cost is same as its acquisition cost. 
IRD’s approval gives Akaroa the permission to use national average market values as proxy 
to fair values or cost in accordance with PAS 41, Agriculture (par. 30). 

Harvested agricultural produce are also carried at fair value less estimated costs to sell at 
harvest point. 

The Group’s classifies its biological assets as consumable biological assets.  Consumable 
biological assets are those that are to be harvested as agricultural produce or sold as 
biological assets. 

Gains or losses arising on initial recognition of a biological asset at fair value less estimated 
point-of-sale costs and from a change in fair value less estimated point-of-sale costs of a 
biological asset are included in the consolidated profit or loss for the period in which they 
arise. 

Property, Plant and Equipment 

Property, plant and equipment are initially measured at cost.  At the end of each reporting 
period, items of property, plant and equipment are measured at cost less any subsequent 
accumulated depreciation, amortization and impairment losses.  Cost includes expenditure 
that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset.  The cost of self-constructed assets 
includes the cost of materials and direct labor, any other costs directly attributable to 
bringing the assets to a working condition for their intended use, the costs of dismantling 
and removing the items and restoring the site on which they are located, and borrowing 
costs on qualifying assets. 

Subsequent expenditures relating to an item of property, plant and equipment that have 
already been recognized are added to the carrying amount of the asset when it is probable 
that future economic benefits, in excess of the originally assessed standard of performance 
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of the existing asset, will flow to the Group. All other subsequent expenditures are 
recognized as expenses in the period in which those are incurred.  

Major spare parts and stand-by equipment qualify as property and equipment when the 
Group expects to use them for more than one year. Similarly, if the spare parts and servicing 
equipment can be used only in connection with an item of property, plant and equipment, 
they are accounted for as property, plant, and equipment. 

Estimated future dismantlement costs of items of property and equipment arising from legal 
or constructive obligations are recognized as part of property, plant and equipment and are 
measured at present value at the time the obligation was incurred. 

Land held for use in the production or supply of goods or services, or for administrative 
purposes, is stated in the consolidated statements of financial position at their revalued 
amounts, being the fair value at the date of revaluation, determined from market-based 
evidence by appraisal undertaken by professional appraisers, less any subsequent 
accumulated depreciation and subsequent accumulated impairment losses.  Revaluations are 
performed with sufficient regularity such that the carrying amounts do not differ materially 
from that which would be determined using fair values at the end of each reporting period. 

The latest revaluation of the above land was made on February 1, 2011 by John J Ryan & 
Associates Ltd., a registered appraiser in New Zealand. 

Any revaluation increase arising on the revaluation of such land is charged to other 
comprehensive income and accumulated in equity, except to the extent that it reverses a 
revaluation decrease for the same asset previously recognized as an expense, in which case 
the increase is charged to consolidated profit or loss to the extent of the decrease previously 
charged.  A decrease in carrying amount arising from the revaluation of such land is charged 
as an expense to the extent that it exceeds the balance, if any, held in the properties 
revaluation surplus relating to a previous revaluation of that asset. 

Depreciation is computed on the straight-line method based on the estimated useful lives of 
the assets as follows: 

Fishing vessel   40 years 
Buildings 25 years 
Machinery and equipment 15 years 
Plant and office furniture, fixtures and equipment   5 years 
Transportation equipment    5 years 

Building and leasehold improvements are depreciated over the improvements’ useful life of 
seven years or when shorter, the terms of the relevant lease.  

Properties in the course of construction for production, rental or administrative purposes, or 
for purposes not yet determined, are carried at cost, less any recognized impairment loss. 
Cost includes professional fees and for qualifying assets, borrowing costs capitalized in 
accordance with the Group’s accounting policy.  Depreciation of these assets, on the same 
basis as other property assets, commences at the time the assets are ready for their intended 
use. 

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognized upon disposal or when no future 
economic benefits are expected to arise from the continued use of the asset.   Gain or loss 
arising on the disposal or retirement of an asset is determined as the difference between the 
sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is recognized in the consolidated 
profit or loss.  

Investment Properties 

Investment properties are properties that are held to earn rentals or for capital appreciation 
or both but not for sale in the ordinary course of business, use in the production or supply 
of goods or services or for administrative purposes.  Investment properties are measured 
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initially at cost, including transaction costs.  Subsequent to initial recognition, investment 
property is measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment 
loss. 

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of investment property are included in 
the consolidated profit or loss on the period in which they arise. 

Depreciation of building is computed on the straight-line method based on the estimated 
useful life of 25 years. 

Transfers to, or from, investment property shall be made only when there is a change in use. 

Investment property is derecognized by the Group upon its disposal or when the investment 
property is permanently withdrawn from use and no future economic benefits are expected 
from its disposal.  Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the property, calculated as the 
difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset, is 
included in the consolidated profit or loss in the period in which the property is 
derecognized. 

Intangible Assets 

Acquired intangible assets 

Intangible assets that are acquired by the Group with finite useful lives are initially measured 
at cost. At the end of each reporting period items of intangible assets acquired are measured 
at cost less accumulated amortization and accumulated impairment losses. Cost includes 
purchase price, including import duties and non-refundable purchase taxes, after deducting 
trade discounts and rebates and any directly attributable cost of preparing the intangible asset 
for its intended use. 

Subsequent expenditure is capitalized only when it increases the future economic benefits 
embodied in the specific asset to which it relates.  All other expenditure, including 
expenditure on internally generated goodwill and brands, is recognized in the consolidated 
profit or loss as incurred. 

Amortization of intangible assets with definite useful lives 

Amortization for salmon farming consent with finite useful life is calculated over the cost of 
the asset, or other amount substituted for cost, less its residual value. 

Amortization is recognized in the consolidated profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the 
estimated useful life of salmon farming consent, other than goodwill, from the date that they 
are available for use, since this most closely reflects the expected pattern of consumption of 
the future economic benefits embodied in the asset.  The estimated useful life of the salmon 
farming consent for the current and comparative periods is 25 years. 

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives 

Intangible assets with indefinite life are not amortized.  However, these assets are reviewed 
annually to ensure the carrying value does not exceed the recoverable amount regardless of 
whether an indicator of impairment is present.  The Group considers its fishing license and 
mycrocystic consent having an indefinite useful life for the following reasons: 

• there have been no established legal or contractual expiration date; 
• impracticability of the determination of the intangible assets’ economic useful lives; 

and 
• unforeseeable limit to the period over which the fishing license and mycrocystic 

consent are expected to generate net cash flows for the Group. 
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Derecognition of intangible assets 

An intangible asset is derecognized on disposal, or when no future economic benefits are 
expected from use or disposal.  Gains or losses arising from derecognition of an intangible 
asset are measured as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying 
amount of the asset and are recognized in the consolidated profit or loss  when the asset is 
derecognized. 

Impairment of Tangible and Intangible Assets 

At the end of each reporting period, the Group assesses whether there is any indication that 
any of its tangible and intangible assets may have suffered an impairment loss.  If any such 
indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine the 
extent of the impairment loss, if any.  When it is not possible to estimate the recoverable 
amount of an individual asset, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the CGU to 
which the asset belongs.  When a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be 
identified, assets are also allocated to individual CGUs, or otherwise they are allocated to the 
smallest group of CGUs for which a reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be 
identified. 

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives and intangible assets not yet available for use are 
tested for impairment annually, and whenever there is an indication that the asset may be 
impaired. 

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value-in-use.  In 
assessing value-in-use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value 
using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of 
money and the risks specific to the asset for which the estimates of future cash flows have 
not been adjusted. 

If the recoverable amount of an asset or CGU is estimated to be less than its carrying 
amount, the carrying amount of the asset or CGU is reduced to its recoverable amount.  An 
impairment loss is recognized as an expense.  Impairment losses recognized in respect of 
CGUs are allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the 
units, and then to reduce the carrying amounts of the other assets in the unit or group of 
units on a pro-rata basis. 

Impairment losses recognized in prior periods are assessed at the end of each reporting 
period for any indications that the loss has decreased or no longer exists.  An impairment 
loss is reversed if there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable 
amount.  An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount 
does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation 
or amortization, if no impairment loss had been recognized.  A reversal of an impairment 
loss is recognized as income. 

Goodwill that forms part of the carrying amount of an investment in an associate is not 
recognized separately, and therefore is not tested for impairment separately.  Instead, the 
entire amount of the investment in an associate is tested for impairment as a single asset 
when there is objective evidence that the investment in an associate may be impaired. 

Non-current Assets Held-for-Sale 

Non-current assets and disposal groups are classified as held-for-sale if their carrying 
amounts will be recovered through a sale transaction rather than through continuing use.  
This condition is regarded as met only when the sale is highly probable and the asset or 
disposal group is available for immediate sale in its present condition.  Management must be 
committed to the sale which should be expected to qualify for recognition as a completed 
sale within one year from the date of classification. 
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Immediately before classification as held-for-sale, the assets are remeasured in accordance 
with the Group’s accounting policies.  Thereafter, generally the assets or disposal group, are 
measured at the lower of their carrying amount and fair value less cost to sell. Any 
impairment loss on a disposal group is allocated first to goodwill, and then to remaining 
assets and liabilities on a pro-rata basis, except that no loss is allocated to inventories, 
financial assets, deferred tax assets, employee benefit assets, investment properties and 
biological assets, which continue to be measured in accordance with the Group’s accounting 
policies. Impairment losses on initial classification as held-for-sale and subsequent gains or 
losses on remeasurement are recognized in the consolidated profit or loss.  Gains are not 
recognized in excess of any cumulative impairment loss. 

If the non-current assets no longer met the criteria to be classified as held-for-sale, the 
Group shall cease to classify the asset held-for-sale. The Group shall measure a non-current 
asset that ceases to be classified as held-for-sale at the lower of: 

• its carrying amount before the asset was classified as held-for-sale, adjusted for any 
depreciation, amortization or revaluations that would have been recognized had the 
asset not been classified as held-for-sale, and 

• its recoverable amount at the date of the subsequent decision not to sell. 

In general, the Group classifies assets as held-for-sale when the following conditions are 
met: 

• Group Management is committed to a plan to sell; 

• the asset is available for immediate sale; 

• an active programme to locate a buyer is initiated;  

• the sale is highly probable, within 12 months of classification as held-for-sale subject to 
limited exceptions;  

• the asset is being actively marketed for sale at a sales price reasonable in relation to its 
fair value; and 

• actions required to complete the plan indicate that it is unlikely that plan will be 
significantly changed or withdrawn. 

These assets are presented as assets held-for-sale in the statements of financial position. 

Financial Liabilities and Equity Instruments 

Classification as debt or equity 

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either financial liabilities or as equity in 
accordance with the substance of the contractual arrangements. 

Financial liabilities 

Financial liabilities are recognized in the Group’s consolidated financial statements when the 
Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.  Financial liabilities 
are initially recognized at fair value.  Transaction costs are included in the initial 
measurement of the Group’s financial liabilities, except for debt instruments classified at 
FVTPL.   

Financial liabilities are classified as either financial liabilities at FVTPL or other financial 
liabilities. 

Since the Group does not have financial liabilities classified at FVTPL, all financial liabilities 
are subsequently measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method, with 
interest expense recognized on an effective yield basis. 
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The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortized cost of a financial 
liability and of allocating interest expense over the relevant period.  The effective interest 
rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments through the expected 
life of the financial liability or, when appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying 
amount on initial recognition. 

Financial liabilities are derecognized by the Group when the obligation under the liability is 
discharged, cancelled or expired.  The difference between the carrying amount of the 
financial liability derecognized and the consideration paid and payable is recognized in 
consolidated profit or loss. 

Equity instruments 

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of the 
Group after deducting all of its liabilities.  Equity instruments issued by the Group are 
recognized at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs. 

Ordinary shares 

Ordinary shares are classified as equity.  Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of 
new shares or options are shown in equity as a deduction from the proceeds, net of tax.  The 
costs of acquiring Group’s own shares are shown as a deduction from equity attributable to 
the Group’s equity holders until the shares are cancelled or reissued.  When such shares are 
subsequently sold or reissued, any consideration received, net of directly attributable 
incremental transaction costs and the related income tax effects, are included in equity 
attributable to the Group’s equity holders. 

Stock dividend distributable 

Share dividend payable is recognized at the date of declaration. Its measurement is 
dependent on the percentage of share dividends issue as compared to the total shares 
outstanding at date of declaration. If the percentage of declared share dividends is less than 
20%, the Parent Company measures it at par value or fair market value at the date of 
declaration; whichever is higher and any excess of fair value over its par is considered to be 
share premium. If the percentage of the declared share dividends is 20% or more, the Parent 
Company measures it on par value. 

Repurchase, disposal and reissue of shares capital (treasury shares) 

When share capital recognized as equity is repurchased, the amount of the consideration 
paid, which include directly attributable cost, net of any tax effects, is recognized as a 
reduction from equity. Repurchased shares are classified as treasury shares and are presented 
in the reserve for own share account. When treasury shares are sold or reissued 
subsequently, the amount received is recognized as increase in equity, and the resulting 
surplus or deficit on the transaction is presented in non-distributable capital reserve. 

Retained earnings 

Retained earnings represent the accumulated income of the Group attributable to the Parent 
Company after deducting dividends declared by the latter. 

Non-controlling interest 

Non-controlling interest represents the accumulated income after dividends declared 
attributable to the non-controlling shareholders of the subsidiaries. 
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Provisions  

Provisions are recognized when the Group has a present obligation, either legal or 
constructive, as a result of a past event, it is probable that the Group will be required to 
settle the obligation through an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits, and the 
amount of the obligation can be estimated reliably. 

The amount of the provision recognized is the best estimate of the consideration required to 
settle the present obligation at the reporting date, taking into account the risks and 
uncertainties surrounding the obligation.  A provision is measured using the cash flows 
estimated to settle the present obligation; its carrying amount is the present value of those 
cash flows. 

When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle a provision are expected to be 
recovered from a third party, the receivable is recognized as an asset if it is virtually certain 
that reimbursement will be received and the amount of the receivable can be measured 
reliably. 

Provisions are reviewed at the end of each reporting period and adjusted to reflect the 
current best estimate. 

If it is no longer probable that a transfer of economic benefits will be required to settle the 
obligation, the provision should be reversed. 

Employee Benefits 

Short-term benefits 

The Group recognizes a liability net of amounts already paid and an expense for services 
rendered by employees during the accounting period.  A liability is also recognized for the 
amount expected to be paid under short-term cash bonus or profit sharing plans if the 
Group has a present legal or constructive obligation to pay this amount as a result of past 
service provided by the employee, and the obligation can be estimated reliably. 

Short-term employee benefit obligations are measured on an undiscounted basis and are 
expensed as the related service is provided.  

Post-employment benefits 

The Group has a non-contributory retirement plan.  The post-employment expense is 
determined using the Projected Unit Credit Method which reflects services rendered by 
employees to the date of valuation and incorporates assumptions concerning employees’ 
projected salaries.  Post-employment benefit expenses include current service cost plus 
amortization of past service cost, experience adjustments and changes in actuarial 
assumptions over the expected average remaining working lives of the covered employees.  
Cumulative actuarial gains and losses in excess of the 10% of the greater between present 
value of the defined benefit obligation and fair value of any plan assets were amortized over 
the expected average remaining working lifetime of the employees and recognized as part of 
retirement expense. 

Past service cost is recognized immediately to the extent that the benefits are already vested, 
and otherwise is amortized on a straight-line basis over the average period until the benefits 
become vested. 

The retirement benefit obligation recognized in the consolidated statements of financial 
position represents the present value of the defined benefit obligation reduced by fair value 
of plan asset as adjusted for unrecognized past service cost and as reduced by the fair value 
of plan assets. 



39 
 

The funding policy is to contribute an amount based on the actuarial valuation report which 
is carried out at end of reporting period. 

Revenue Recognition  

Revenue is recognized to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow 
to the Group and the revenue can be measured reliably.  Revenue is measured at the fair 
value of the consideration received or receivable and represents amounts receivable for 
goods and services provided in the normal course of business. 

Sale of goods 

Sale of goods in the course of ordinary activities is measured at the fair value of the 
consideration received or receivable, net of returns and volume rebates. Sale of goods is 
recognized when all the following conditions are satisfied: 

• the Group has transferred to the buyer the significant risks and rewards of 
ownership of the goods; 

• the Group retains neither continuing managerial involvement to the degree 
usually associated with ownership nor effective control over the goods sold; 

• the amount of revenue can be measured reliably; 

• it is probable that the economic benefits associated with the transaction will 
flow to the Group; and 

• the costs incurred or to be incurred in respect of the transaction can be 
measured reliably. 

Sales return 

Sales return is recognized at the time of actual return of goods. It is measured by the amount 
of the revenue previously recognized in which the return is associated. It is treated as a 
contra revenue account and represents a direct deduction from amounts receivable for 
goods provided in the normal course of business. 

The Group does not offer to its customers a general right of return. However, the Group 
accepts returns of damaged and defective products that are shipped directly from the Group 
or for products that are already expired. 

Other income 

Other income is recognized when it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the 
Group and it can be measured reliably. Other income includes interest income, rental 
income, income from insurance settlement, gain on sale of property, plant and equipment, 
foreign exchange gain, reversal of doubtful accounts and miscellaneous income. The specific 
policies over the specific classification of other income are as follows: 

Rental income 

Revenue recognition for rental income is disclosed in the Group’s policy for leases. 

Interest income 

Interest income is accrued on a time proportion basis, by reference to the principal 
outstanding and at the effective interest rate applicable, which is the rate that exactly 
discounts estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of the financial asset to 
that asset’s net carrying amount.  



40 
 

 

Income from insurance settlement 

Income from insurance settlement is recognized when it is probable that the economic 
benefits will flow to the Group and it can be measured reliably. 

Gain on sale of property, plant and equipment, foreign exchange gain, and reversal of doubtful accounts  

Accounting policies for the recognition of gain on sale of property, plant and equipment, 
foreign exchange gain, and reversal of doubtful accounts are disclosed in the policies on 
property, plant and equipment, foreign exchange transactions and translations, and financial 
assets, respectively. 

Miscellaneous income 

Miscellaneous income is recognized when it is probable that the economic benefits will flow 
to the Group and it can be measured reliably. Miscellaneous income is the income that 
cannot be classified as a sale of goods, rental income, interest income, income from 
insurance settlement, gain on sale of property, plant and equipment, foreign exchange gain, 
and reversal of doubtful accounts. 

Expense Recognition 

Expenses are recognized in consolidated profit or loss when decrease in future economic 
benefit related to a decrease in an asset or an increase in a liability has arisen that can be 
measured reliably.  Expenses are recognized in consolidated profit or loss: on the basis of a 
direct association between the costs incurred and the earning of specific items of income; on 
the basis of systematic and rational allocation procedures when economic benefits are 
expected to arise over several accounting periods and the association with income can only 
be broadly or indirectly determined; or immediately when an expenditure produces no future 
economic benefits or when, and to the extent that, future economic benefits do not qualify, 
or cease to qualify, for recognition in the consolidated statements of financial position as an 
asset. 

Expenses in the consolidated statements of comprehensive income are presented using the 
function of expense method.  Cost of goods manufactured and sold are expenses incurred 
that are associated with the goods sold and include components of cost of good 
manufactured. 

Leases 

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the lease transfer substantially 
all the risks and rewards of ownership to the lessee.  All other leases are classified as 
operating leases. 

Operating lease 

Operating lease payments are recognized as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease 
term, except when another systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern in 
which economic benefits from the leased asset are consumed.  Contingent rentals arising 
under operating leases are recognized as an expense in the period in which they are incurred. 

In the event that lease incentives are received to enter into operating leases, such incentives 
are recognized as a liability.  The aggregate benefit of incentives is recognized as a reduction 
of rental expense on a straight-line basis, except when another systematic basis is more 
representative of the time pattern in which economic benefits from the leased asset are 
consumed. 
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Foreign Currency Transactions and Translations 

Transactions in currencies other than the functional currency of the Group are recorded at 
the rates of exchange prevailing on the dates of the transactions.  At the end of each 
reporting period, monetary assets and liabilities that are denominated in foreign currencies 
are retranslated at the rates prevailing at the end of the reporting period.  Gains and losses 
arising on retranslation are included in the consolidated profit or loss for the year. 

Borrowing Costs 

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of 
qualifying assets, which are assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get 
ready for their intended use or sale, are added to the cost of those assets, until such time as 
the assets are substantially ready for their intended use or sale.   

Investment income earned on the temporary investment of specific borrowings pending 
their expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for 
capitalization. 

All other borrowing costs are recognized in the consolidated profit or loss in the period in 
which they are incurred. 

Related Party Transactions 

A related party transaction is a transfer of resources, services or obligations between the 
Group and a related party, regardless of whether a price is charged. 

A person or a close member of that person’s family is related to the Group if that person: 

• has control or joint control over the Group;  

• has significant influence over the Group; or 

• is a member of the key management personnel of the reporting entity or of a parent of 
the Group. 

An entity is related to the Group if any of the following conditions apply: 

• the entity and the Group are members of the same group which means that each parent, 
subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the others; 

• one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity or an associate or joint 
venture of a member of a group of which the other entity is a member; 

• both entities are joint ventures of the same third party; 

• one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other entity is an associate of the 
third entity; 

• the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit of employees of either the 
Group or an entity related to the Group; 

• the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person who is a related party as 
identified above; and 

• a person that has control or joint control over the reporting entity has significant 
influence over the entity or is a member of the key management personnel of the entity 
or of a parent of the entity. 
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Taxation 

Income tax expense represents the sum of the current tax expense and deferred tax. 

Current tax expense 

The current tax expense is based on taxable profit for the year.  Taxable profit differs from 
net profit as reported in the consolidated statements of comprehensive income because it 
excludes items of income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and it 
further excludes items that are never taxable or deductible.  The Parent Company’s 
registered product was granted an ITH starting August 24, 2004 up to August 23, 2011 as 
disclosed in Note 1.  After the ITH, the liability for current tax is calculated using a tax rate 
of 30% under the normal taxation or 2% of defined gross income under minimum corporate 
income tax (MCIT), whichever is higher.  

The income tax rates of subsidiaries are as follows: 

ASFIC 40%
Spence 40%
Akaroa 28%
PFNZ 28%
PTIAFI 25%
BGB ITH

Deferred tax 

Deferred tax is recognized on differences between the carrying amounts of assets and 
liabilities in the consolidated financial statements and the corresponding tax base used in the 
computation of taxable profit.  Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognized for all taxable 
temporary differences, while deferred tax assets are generally recognized for all deductible 
temporary differences to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available 
against which those deductible temporary differences can be utilized.   

Deferred tax liabilities are recognized for taxable temporary differences arising on 
investments in associate except when the Group is able to control the reversal of the 
temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the 
foreseeable future. 

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of each reporting period 
and reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be 
available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered. 

Deferred tax liabilities and assets are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in 
the period in which the liability is settled or the asset realized, based on tax rates and tax laws 
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period. The 
measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the tax consequences that would 
follow from the manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to 
recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.  

Current and deferred tax for the year 

Current and deferred taxes are recognized as an expense or income in consolidated profit or 
loss, except when they relate to items that are recognized outside consolidated profit or loss, 
whether in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case the current and 
deferred tax are also recognized outside consolidated profit or loss. 
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Earnings per Share 

The Group computes its basic earnings per share by dividing consolidated profit or loss 
attributable to ordinary equity holders of the Group by the weighted average number of 
ordinary shares issued and outstanding during the period. 

For the purpose of calculating diluted earnings per share, profit or loss for the year 
attributable to ordinary equity holders of the Group and the weighted average number of 
shares outstanding are adjusted for the effects off all dilutive potential ordinary shares. 

Events after the Reporting Period 

The Group identifies events after the end of each reporting period as those events, both 
favorable and unfavorable, that occur between the end of the reporting period and the date 
when the consolidated financial statements are authorized for issue.  The consolidated 
financial statements of the Group are adjusted to reflect those events that provide evidence 
of conditions that existed at the end of the reporting period.  Non-adjusting events after the 
end of the reporting period are disclosed in the notes to the consolidated financial 
statements when material. 

Segment Reporting 

An operating segment is a component of the Group that engages in business activities from 
which it may earn revenues and incur expenses, including revenues and expenses that relate 
to transactions with any of the Group’s other components.  All operating segments’ 
operating results are reviewed regularly by the Group’s Chief Operating Decision Maker 
(CODM) to make decisions about resources to be allocated to the segment and assess its 
performance, and for which discrete financial information is available. 

The Group reports separately, information about an operating segment that meets any of the 
following quantitative thresholds:  

• its reported revenue, including both sales to external customers and inter-segment sales 
or transfers, is 10% or more of the combined revenue, internal and external, of all 
operating segments, provided that; 

• the absolute amount of its reported profit or loss is 10% or more of the greater, in 
absolute amount, of the combined reported profit of all operating segments that did not 
report a loss and the combined reported loss of all operating segments that reported a 
loss; and  

• its assets are 10% or more of the combined assets of all operating segments. 

Operating segments that do not meet any of the quantitative thresholds may be considered 
reportable, and separately disclosed, if Management believes that information about the 
segment would be useful to users of the financial statements. 

Segment capital expenditure is the total cost incurred during the period to acquire property, 
plant and equipment, and intangible assets other than goodwill. 

6. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF 
ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY  

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, Management is required to make 
judgments, estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities 
that are not readily apparent from other sources.  The estimates and associated assumptions 
are based on the historical experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant. 
Actual results may differ from these estimates. 
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The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis.  Revisions to 
accounting estimates are recognized in the period in which the estimate is revised if the 
revision affects only that period or in the period of the revision and future periods if the 
revision affects both current and future periods. 

Critical Judgments in Applying Accounting Policies 

The following are the critical judgments, apart from those involving estimations, that 
management have made in the process of applying the entity’s accounting policies and that 
have the most significant effect on the amounts recognized in consolidated financial 
statements. 

Segment reporting 

The Group’s revenue is classified into sales of canned and processed seafoods and sales of 
fishmeal. Although the revenue can be identified separately, the Group uses the same assets 
and resources for its sales of canned and processed seafoods and sales from fishmeal 
activities. Segregation and/or identification/allocation of those resources for each activity 
are impracticable since sales from fishmeal activities are minimal and do not exceed the 10% 
threshold criteria set forth in PFRS 8.  

For management purposes, the Group is currently organized activities based on its products 
(i.e. sale of canned and processed seafoods; and sale of fishmeal) and considers each product 
as one segment. The core activity is the canned and processed seafoods which account for 
more than 98.3% of the Group’s consolidated revenues, consolidated profit for the year, and 
consolidated total assets. Thus, Management believes that the Group’s only reportable 
segment is the Group’s activities taken as a whole. 

Classification of lease 

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the lease transfer substantially 
all the risk and rewards of the ownership to the lessee otherwise; leases are classified as 
operating leases. Judgment is used in determining whether the significant risk and rewards of 
ownership are transferred to the lessee. In making such judgment, the Group evaluates the 
terms and conditions of the lease arrangement. Failure to make the right judgment would 
directly affect the Group’s assets and liabilities.  

The lease contracts entered into by the Group are classified as operating leases as disclosed 
in Note 32. 

Functional currency 

Based on the economic substance of the underlying circumstances relevant to the Group, 
the functional currency of the Group has been determined to be the US Dollar. The US 
Dollar is the currency of the primary economic environment in which the Group operates. It 
is the currency that mainly influences the Group in determining the costs and selling price of 
its inventories. 

Presentation of third statement of financial position 

It will often be necessary for the management to exercise judgment in determining whether 
an additional consolidated statement of financial position at the beginning of the earliest 
comparative period is required to be presented. When applying judgment, it is necessary to 
consider whether the information set out an additional consolidated statement of financial 
position would be material to users of the consolidated financial statements.  
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Based on careful evaluation, Management believes that the change in prior year presentation 
and reclassifications made in the consolidated financial statements, as disclosed in Note 42, 
would not have material impact on the Groups consolidated financial statements. 
Accordingly, the third consolidated statement of financial position is not prepared and 
presented. 

Determination of control  

Management exercises its judgment in determining whether the Parent Company has control 
over another entity by evaluating the substance of relationship that indicates the control of 
Parent Company over its subsidiaries and special purpose entity. The recognition and 
measurement of the Parent Company’s investments over these entities will depend on the 
result of the judgment made.  

Based on the assessment made by the Management, the Parent Company has control over its 
subsidiaries PTIAFI, PFNZ, BGB, Spence and Akaroa as at December 31, 2012 and 2011, 
and special purpose entities ASFIC as at December 31, 2012 and 2011 and AMHI as at 
December 31, 2011.  Accordingly, the financial statements of these entities are included in 
the consolidated financial statements of the Parent Company. 

Determination of joint control 

Management exercises its judgment in reassessing whether the Group has joint control over 
FDCP Inc. (FDCP) or mere significant influence by evaluating the substance of relationship 
that may exist between the Group over FDCP. The recognition and measurement of the 
Group’s investments over FDCP will depend on the result of the judgment made. 

On the basis of the reassessment made on the circumstances disclosed in Note 42, the 
Group accounts for its 40% ownership in FDCP as an Investment in Joint Venture as it 
exercises joint control over the strategic financial and operating decisions relating to the JV’s 
activities which require the unanimous consent of the parties in a collective sense. Moreover, 
in cases of deadlocks or when the parties do not reach unanimous consent, parties seek 
independent arbitration to reach conclusion.  

Loss of control 

Based on the reassessment made by the Management due to the changes in circumstances 
arising from the restructuring of AMHI disclosed in Note 3, the Parent Company ceased to 
exercise control over AMHI effective December 28, 2012. As a result of the loss of control, 
the Group accounts for its 40% ownership in AMHI as an investment in an associate from 
the time the control is lost.  

Determination of significant influence 

Management exercises its judgment in determining whether the Group has control over 
another entity by evaluating the substance of relationship that indicates the significant 
influence of the Group over its associates. The recognition and measurement of the Group’s 
investments over these entities will depend on the result of the judgment made.  

Based on the assessment made by the Management, the Group has significant influence over 
AMHI and Salmon Smolt NZ Limited (SSNZ) as at September 30, 2013. 

Biological assets 

Biological assets are required to be measured on initial recognition and at the end of each 
reporting period at fair value less costs to sell, unless fair value cannot be measured reliably. 
Accordingly, the management shall exercise its judgment in determining the best estimate of 
fair value. 
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After exerting its best effort in determining the fair value of the Group’s biological assets, 
the management believes that the fair value of its biological assets cannot be measured 
reliably since the market determined prices or values are not available and other methods of 
reasonably estimating fair value are determined to be clearly unreliable.  Accordingly, the 
Group’s biological assets are measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and any 
accumulated impairment loss. 

Classification of assets as held-for-sale 

As disclosed in Note 15 and 17, Management classified the amount of the three fishing 
vessels as non-current assets held-for-sale and presented as current assets on the basis of a 
written serious intent from a buyer to purchase the assets.  The Management is committed to 
sell these assets and expects these assets to be sold within 12 months.  Accordingly, these 
assets are classified as assets as held-for-sale as at December 31, 2012. 

Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty 

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of 
estimation uncertainty at the end of each reporting period that have a significant risk of 
causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next 
financial year: 

Estimating useful lives of assets 

The useful lives of the Group’s assets with definite lives are estimated based on the period 
over which the assets are expected to be available for use.  The estimated useful lives of 
investment properties, property, plant, and equipment, and intangibles assets are reviewed 
periodically and are updated if expectations differ from previous estimates due to physical 
wear and tear, technical or commercial obsolescence and legal or other limits on the use of 
the Group’s assets.  In addition, the estimation of the useful lives is based on the Group’s 
collective assessment of industry practice, internal technical evaluation and experience with 
similar assets.  It is possible, however, that future results of operations could be materially 
affected by changes in estimates brought about by changes in factors mentioned above.  The 
amounts and timing of recorded expenses for any period would be affected by changes in 
these factors and circumstances.  A reduction in the estimated useful lives of investment 
properties, property, plant, and equipment, and intangibles assets would increase the 
recognized operating expenses and decrease non-current assets.  

Asset impairment 

The Group performs an impairment review when certain indicators are present. 

Determining the recoverable amounts of investment properties, property, plant and 
equipment, intangible assets, and assets held-for-sale which requires the determination of 
future cash flows expected to be generated from the continued use and ultimate disposition 
of such assets requires the Group to make estimates and assumptions that can materially 
affect the consolidated financial statements.  Any resulting impairment loss could have a 
material adverse impact on the Group’s consolidated financial position and result of 
operations. 

The preparation of the estimated future cash flows involves significant judgment and 
estimations.  While the Group believes that its assumptions are appropriate and reasonable, 
significant changes in the assumptions may materially affect the assessment of recoverable 
values and may lead to future additional impairment charges. 

Total carrying amounts of investments in associates, investment in a joint venture, 
investment properties, property, plant and equipment, intangible assets and assets held-for-
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sale as at September 30, 2013 and December 31, 2012 are disclosed in Notes 12, 13, 14, 15, 
16 and 17, respectively. 

As at September 30, 2013 and December 31, 2012, Management believes that the 
recoverable amounts of the Group’s investments in associates, investment in a joint venture, 
investment properties, property, plant and equipment, intangible assets and assets held-for-
sale exceed their carrying amounts. Accordingly, no impairment loss was recognized in 2013 
and 2012. 

Revaluation of Assets 

Land and Fishing Vessel 

The Group has adopted the fair value approach in determining the carrying value of its land 
and fishing vessel.  While the Group has opted to rely on independent appraisers to 
determine the fair value of its investment properties, such fair value was determined based 
on recent prices of similar properties, with adjustments to reflect any changes in economic 
conditions since the date of the transactions that occurred at those prices.  The amounts and 
timing of recorded changes in fair value for any period would differ if the Group made 
different judgments and estimates or utilized different basis for determining fair value. 

The carrying amounts of land carried at fair value as at September 30, 2013 and December 
31, 2012 amounted to $1,597,631 and $1,599,107, respectively, as disclosed in Note 15. 
Revaluation increment in other comprehensive income amounted to $115,335 in 2011 based 
on the latest revaluation date disclosed in Note 15. 

Estimating the fair value of refundable lease deposit at initial recognition and disclosure  

In the determination of the fair value of the refundable lease deposit, the Group applies 
discounted cash flow method using the effective interest rates of similar type of instruments 
which considers the following factors: 

• expected future cash flows; 
• time value of money, represented by the rate on risk-free monetary assets that have 

maturity dates or durations that coincide with the period covered by the cash flows; 
• price for bearing the uncertainty inherent in the cash flows (i.e., a risk premium); and 
• non-performance risk relating to that liability, including the obligor's own credit risk. 

The carrying amounts of refundable lease deposit, as disclosed in Note 18, would be affected 
by changes in these factors and circumstances. 

The fair values of refundable lease deposit as at September 30, 2013 and December 31, 2012 
using DCF are disclosed in Notes 21 and 38. 

Deferred tax assets 

The Group reviews the carrying amounts at the end of each reporting period and reduces 
deferred tax assets to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will 
be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax assets to be utilized.  However, there is no 
assurance that the Group will generate sufficient taxable profit to allow all or part of its 
deferred tax assets to be utilized. 

Total deferred tax assets recognized in the consolidated statements of financial position as at  
September 30, 2013 and December 31, 2012, amounted to $212,554, as disclosed in Note 36. 

Estimating allowances for doubtful accounts 

The Group estimates the allowance for doubtful accounts related to its receivables based on 
the assessment of specific accounts when the Group has information that certain 
counterparties are unable to meet their financial obligations.  In these cases judgment used 
was based on the best available facts and circumstances including but not limited to, the 



48 
 

length of relationship with the counterparty and the counterparty’s current credit status 
based on credit reports and known market factors.  The Group used judgment to record 
specific reserves for counterparties against amounts due to reduce the expected collectible 
amounts.  These specific reserves are re-evaluated and adjusted as additional information 
received impacts the amounts estimated. 

The amounts and timing of recorded expenses for any period would differ if different 
judgments were made or different estimates were utilized.  An increase in the allowance for 
doubtful accounts would increase the recognized operating expenses and decrease current 
assets. 

Total trade and other receivables recognized in the consolidated statements of financial 
position amounted to $9,370,891 and $11,474,299, which is net of the related allowances for 
doubtful accounts amounting to $59,754 and $22,667, as at September 30, 2013 and 
December 31, 2012, respectively as disclosed in Note 8. 

Estimating net realizable value of inventories 

The net realizable value of inventories represents the estimated selling price for inventories 
less all estimated costs of completion and costs necessary to make the sale.  The Group 
determines the estimated selling price based on recent sale transactions of similar goods with 
adjustments to reflect any changes in economic conditions since the date the transactions 
occurred.  The Group records provision for excess of cost over net realizable value of 
inventories.  While the Group believes that the estimates are reasonable and appropriate, 
significant differences in the actual experience or significant changes in estimates may 
materially affect the consolidated profit or loss and consolidated equity. 

Total inventories recognized in the consolidated statements of financial position amounted 
to $14,781,539 and $9,681,337, which is net of the related allowance for raw materials 
obsolescence of $27,678, as at September 30, 2013 and December 31, 2012, respectively as 
disclosed in Note 9. 

Revenue recognition 

The Group’s revenue recognition policies require the use of estimates and assumptions that 
may affect the reported amounts of revenues and receivables.  Differences between the 
amounts initially recognized and actual settlements are taken up in the accounts upon 
reconciliation.  However, there is no assurance that such use of estimates may not result in 
material adjustments in future periods. 

Net revenue recognized for the six months ended September 30, 2013 and 2012 amounted 
to $61,723,109 and $56,741,484, respectively, as disclosed in Note 27. 

Post-employment and other employee benefits 

The determination of the retirement obligation cost and other retirement benefits is 
dependent on the selection of certain assumptions used by actuaries in calculating such 
amounts.  Those assumptions include, discount rates, expected returns on plan assets and 
rates of compensation increase among others.  In accordance with PFRS, actual results that 
differ from the assumptions are accumulated and amortized over future periods and 
therefore, generally affect the recognized expense and recorded obligation in future periods.  
While the Group believes that the assumptions are reasonable and appropriate, significant 
differences in the actual experience or significant changes in the assumptions may materially 
affect the pension and other retirement obligations. 

Retirement expense amounted to $91,909 and $48,000 in 2013 and 2012, respectively, and 
accrued retirement obligation recognized amounted to $512,946 and $421,037, as at 
September 30, 2013 and December 31, 2012, respectively, as disclosed in Note 22. 
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7. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of each reporting period as shown in the consolidated 
statements of cash flows can be reconciled to the related items in the consolidated 
statements of financial position as follows: 

 2013 2012 
Cash on hand and in banks $1,864,722 $3,390,695
Cash equivalents           -      801,131

 $1,864,722 $4,191,826

Cash equivalents are short-term, highly liquid investments that are readily convertible to 
known amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value.  
The Group classifies an investment as cash equivalent if that investment has a maturity of 
three months or less from the date of acquisition.  

Cash in banks earned an average interest of 0.25% per annum in 2013 and 2012 while cash 
equivalents earned an average interest rate of 0.80% per annum in 2013 and 2012.  Cash in 
banks are unrestricted and immediately available for use in the current operations of the 
Group. 

Interest income earned from cash in banks amounted to $9,732 and $34,751, in 2013 and 
2012, respectively, as disclosed in Note 28. 

8. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES – net 

The Group’s trade and other receivables consist of: 

  2013 2012
Trade   $8,083,078 $11,092,827
Less:  Allowance for doubtful accounts 59,754 22,667
 8,023,324 11,070,160
Advances to third party 500,000 
Claims receivable 212,806 219,693
Advances to employees 63,043 42,689
Others 571,718 141,757

 $9,370,891 $11,474,299

Claims receivable includes, but is not limited to, insurance claims and refunds from 
government agencies. 

Others include, but is not limited, to claims from suppliers. 

The average credit period taken on sale of goods is 43 days.  No interest is charged on the 
outstanding trade receivables even beyond their credit terms. 

Trade and other receivables amounting to $2,753,123 and $2,516,135 as at September 30, 
2013 and December 31, 2012, respectively, have been pledged as security for the Group’s 
short-term loans from a foreign bank with an outstanding balance of $4,000,000 and 
$3,350,000 as at September 30, 2013 and December 31, 2012, respectively, as disclosed in 
Note 20.  
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Movements in the allowance for doubtful accounts follow: 

 Notes 2013 2012
Balance, January 1 $ 22,667 $ 23,175
Doubtful accounts expense 30       37,087 -
Reversal of allowance for doubtful accounts 28 - (13,307)
Currency translation adjustment  - 12,799

Balance, September 30 $59,754 $22,667

In determining the recoverability of trade receivables, the Group considers any change in the 
credit quality of the trade receivable from the date credit was initially granted up to the end 
of the reporting period. The concentration of credit risk is limited due to the customer base 
being large and unrelated.  Accordingly, the Group believes that there is no further  
allowance for doubtful accounts required. 

Management believes that the carrying amounts of trade and other receivables approximate 
fair values. 

9. INVENTORIES – net 

Details of the Group’s inventories are as follows: 

 Note 2013 2012
Raw and packaging materials  $2,505,408 $2,215,632
Less:  Allowance for inventory 

obsolescence  
 

27,678 
 

27,678

 2,477,730 2,187,954
Finished goods 
Work-in-process 
Parts and supplies 

29 11,723,640 
240,156 
340,013 

7,093,854
80,413 

319,116

  $14,781,539 $9,681,337

The inventories recognized as expense in 2013 and 2012 amounted to $55,592,274 and 
$49,329,132 respectively, as disclosed in Note 29. 

The carrying amount of raw materials amounted to $2,477,730 and $2,187,954 net of 
allowance for inventory obsolescence as at September 30, 2013 and December 31, 2012, 
respectively. 

Movements in the allowance for inventory obsolescence are as follows: 

 Note                    2013          2012 
Balance, January 1 $  27,678 $  7,678
Loss on inventory obsolescence 29 - 20,000

Balance, March 31 $  27,678 $27,678

Inventories with a carrying amount of $2,798,926 and $1,473,822 as at September 30, 2013 
and December 31, 2012, respectively, have been pledged as security for the Group’s short-
term loans from a foreign bank with a carrying amount of $4,000,000 and $3,350,000 as at 
September 30, 2013 and December 31, 2012, respectively, as disclosed in Note 20. 
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10. BIOLOGICAL ASSETS 

Biological assets of the Group are comprised solely by consumable female smolts. Female 
smolts are young salmons at the stage when it migrates from fresh water to the sea. 

Smolts arrive at the farm annually around October to December. They are cultured during 
its developmental phase which lasts around the average period of six months from the date 
of arrival. At this phase, water temperature is being strictly monitored not to exceed 11˚C. 
When the water temperature exceeds 11˚C, smolts are taken out from the water and will 
undergo the grading process. Grading process usually happens around July or August of 
each year. The survival rate of fish from grading to harvesting is about 85%. 

Point of harvest is usually around February of each year and continues over a 12-month 
period. Daily harvest ranges from 200 - 300 salmons or double the amount depending on the 
season. 

As at September 30, 2013 and December 31, 2012, the carrying amount of the Group’s 
biological assets amounted to $110,118 and $201,521, respectively, which have been valued 
at its proxy market value of NZ$0.90 per smolt or approximately US$0.73 per smolt using 
the average foreign exchange rate in 2012 of NZ$1.00 equivalent to US$0.81. 

Though PAS 41 requires the biological assets to be valued at fair value less cost to sell, 
Akaroa met the following criteria for differential reporting concessions under NZ Financial 
Reporting Act 1993: 

a. Akaroa is not publicly accountable; and 
b. Akaroa is ‘not large’ as defined by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of New 

Zealand. 

Akaroa is allowed to value the smolts at average market values of 0.90 NZD as issued by the 
New Zealand Inland Revenue Department (IRD). The average market value issued by the 
IRD is considered to be the proxy for fair value of the smolts. 

The fair value less estimated point-of-sale costs cannot be determined and improbable due 
to the following factors that affect the determination of the growth of the biological assets: 

a. inclement weather, such as raging storms can cause havoc to the farm and lead to 
significant fish loss; 

b. the quality of smolts which is a crucial factor in the achievement of the desired weight of 
fish; and 

c. the risk of salmon disease outbreak that cannot be discounted. 

Management believes that the fair value of its biological assets cannot be measured reliably 
since the market determined prices or values are not available and other methods of 
reasonably estimating fair value are determined to be clearly unreliable.  Accordingly, the 
Group’s biological assets are measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and any 
accumulated impairment loss. 
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11. PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER CURRENT ASSETS 

The details of the Group’s prepayments and other current assets are shown below. 

 2013 2012
Deposits - fish supplier and other $   604,127 $  917,873
Prepaid professional fees 607,192 495,883
Prepaid importation 175,095 21,734
Input value-added tax (VAT) 119,912 148,794
Prepaid taxes and licenses 87,296 52,916
Prepaid insurance 64,202 42,261
Prepaid rent 41,195 12,436
Prepaid freight 4,717 41,631
Others 456,953 65,935

 $2,160,689 $1,799,463

As at September 30, 2013, deposits represent advance payments for raw materials and rental 
offices. 

Prepaid professional fees relates to the Company's on-going preparations to seek a listing of 
Singapore Depositary Shares in Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited's Catalyst 
Board. 

Prepaid importation pertains to the Company's advance payments of costs relating to the 
importation of raw materials from its foreign suppliers based on an agreed price and 
quantity. This shall be included as part of the total cost of raw materials when delivered. 

12. INVESTMENT IN ASSOCIATES 

Details and movements of the Group’s investment in associates are as follows: 

 AMHI SSNZ WCFI Total 

Acquisition cost $8,613 $27,319 $          - $   35,932

Equity in profit for the year 163,713 31,752 - 195,465
Balance, December 31, 2012 172,326 59,071 - 231,397
Equity in profit (loss) for the year 98,954 - - 98,954
Investment - - 39,279 39,279

 $271,280 $59,071 $39,279 $369,630 

AMHI 

As disclosed in Note 3, the AMHI was previously a subsidiary of the Parent Company. 
However, effective December 28, 2012, the Parent Company ceased to exercise control over 
AMHI due to changes in circumstances, and consequently made AMHI its associate. 

The Group has 40% interest over AMHI as at September 30, 2013 and December 31, 2012. 

SSNZ 

The Group has 20% interest over SSNZ. SSNZ engages in the farming of salmon in South 
Island of New Zealand and is incorporated in 2008. 

The Group’s Management believes that there are no indications of impairment for its 
investment in associates. 



53 
 

WCFI 

On January 31, 2013, the Company signed a joint venture agreement with CHL Fishing 
Industry, Inc. (CHL) and CHL Construction & Development Enterprises, Inc. (CHLC) to 
incorporate a joint venture fishing company (JVC) to be named Wild Catch Fisheries, Inc. 
(WCFI) which shall have an initial authorized capital stock of P16,000,000 consisting of 
16,000,000 common shares with a par value of P1.00  per share. The Group has 40% 
interest over WCFI. It was incorporated on March 8, 2013. 

13. INVESTMENT IN A JOINT VENTURE 

FDCP 

FDCP is engaged in the manufacturing and wholesale of tin cans. The Group’s ownership 
interest in FDCP is 40% as at September 30, 2013 and December 31, 2012. 

Details and movements of the Group’s investment in a joint venture are as follows: 

  2013 2012 
Acquisition cost  $240,964 $240,964 
Accumulated equity in profit for the year:    
Balance, beginning  348,531 244,459
Equity in profit (loss) for the year  (38,284) 104,072
Balance, end   310,247 348,531
Share in fair value gain on available-for-sale investments:  
Balance, beginning  26,670 4,877
Fair value gain  during the year  - 21,793
Balance, end  26,670 26,670

  $577,881 $616,165 

The Group previously presented its investment in FDCP as an investment in an associate 
under the equity method reclassified as an investment in a joint venture as at  
September 30, 2013, as disclosed in Note 42. 

Management determines that the change in presentation has no material impact to the 
Group’s consolidated financial statements, as disclosed in Note 42. 

The Group’s Management believes that there are no indications of impairment for its 
investment in a joint venture as at September 30, 2013 and December 31, 2012. 
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14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT - net 

Movements in the carrying amounts of the Group’s property, plant and equipment are as 
follows: 

 Land 

Building and 
Leasehold 

Improvements

Machinery 
and 

Equipment
Transportation 

Equipment 

Office 
Furniture, 

Fixtures and 
Equipment

Plant 
Furniture  

Fixtures and 
Equipment 

Fishing 
Vessels 

Construction 
in Progress Total 

Cost            
Balance,  
January 1, 2011 $1,447,468 $2,653,394 $3,912,384          $522,001   $256,836    $68,196 $          -    $1,036,526 $  9,896,805 
Additions         - 358,384 1,574,334          273,193           45,371       8,842  377,350   303,105 2,940,579 
Revaluation 115,335              -          -               -          -          -          -            -     115,335 
Reclassification         -              -          -               -          -          -          -  (921,437)   (445,108)
Disposals         - 476,329          -         (230,869)          -          -           -            -    (230,869)
Translation adjustment (9,773) (6,542)          39,015                359          316          -           -            -      23,375 
Balance,  
   December 31, 2011 1,553,030 3,481,565    5,525,733          564,684      302,523    77,038     377,350     418,194 12,300,117 
Additions        -   1,787,992   1,927,242          211,040          41,969      3,269 15,554,046             -  19,525,558
Reclassification        -     430,763    (141,160)          (81,451)    (12,511)          - (4,575,000) (418,194) (4,797,553)
Disposals        -   (648,249)   (273,321)               -          -   (43,046)        -            -  (964,616)
Translation adjustment 46,077          63,257          49,436            4,722    3,242        -        -           -   166,734 
Balance,  
December 31, 2012 1,599,107   5,115,328  7,087,930          698,995    335,223    37,261 11,356,396            - 26,230,240
Additions        - 8,673  351,024         15,797          88,504    21,695    839,143            1,471 1,326,307
Revaluation        -   - -          -         -     - -           - -
Reclassification       (3,911)     - (709)          -          (30)      (139) -           (253) (5,042)

Disposals        -   -  (27,603)               -         -   -
  

(2,530,000)      (2,557,603)
Translation adjustment 2,497           10,641         12,848             1,131     741          -        -            -   27,858
Balance,  
September 30, 2013 1,597,693   5,134,642  7,423,490          715,923    424,438    58,817 9,665,539            1,218 25,021,761
Accumulated 
   Depreciation     
   and Amortization 
Balance,  
January 1, 2011        -          704,860     896,481          349,022     173,782     38,505        -           -  2,162,650 
Depreciation and  
   amortization        -          168,246    497,259           64,543           30,230      4,965        -           -   765,243 
Disposals        -         (327,448)          -          (99,127)          -          -        -           -    (426,575)
Translation adjustment        -            -           18,762               (128)         230          -        -           -      18,864 
Balance,  
December 31, 2011        -          545,658   1,412,502          314,310    204,242     43,470        -           -  2,520,182 
Depreciation and  
   amortization        -          237,616    591,666           58,359           33,764       5,806     103,708           -   1,030,919
Reclassification        -                812    (82,441)          (17,999)      (812)          -   (28,594)           -   (129,034)
Disposals        -          (82,951)    (137,242)               -          -   (27,255)        -           -    (247,448)
Translation adjustment        -           15,741           19,573             3,941       2,868          -        -           -     42,123 
Balance,  
December 31, 2012        -          716,876   1,804,058          358,611     240,062     22,021      75,114           -   3,216,742 
Depreciation and  
   amortization        -          261,963    519,058          76,945          25,271      6,919     192,083           -   1,082,239
Reclassification        -               (2,128)          -      -          -   -           - (2,128)
Disposal       -  (47,437)  (47,437)
Translation adjustment         -           2,650            7,819      800         594        -        -           -     11,863
Balance,  
September 30, 2013 -   979,361  2,330,935          436,356    263,643    28,940 219,760            - 4,258,995

Carrying Amounts  
September 30, 2013 $1,597,693       $4,155,281 $5,092,555         $279,567    $  160,795    $29,877 $9,445,779 $      1,218 $20,762,766

Carrying Amounts 
December 31, 2012 $1,599,107       $4,398,452 $5,283,872         $340,384    $  95,161    $15,240 $11,281,282 $       - $23,013,498 
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Group has pledged the certain property, plant and equipment having a total carrying amount 
of $4,180,456 and $4,270,618 as at September 30,2013 and December 31, 2012, respectively, 
to secure short-term loans granted to the Group as disclosed in Note 20.  

On December 29, 2011, the Group received a commercial tuna fishing vessel with a fair 
market value of $377,350 from BSJ as a partial settlement of its obligation to the Company, 
as disclosed in Note 11.   

On September 7, 2012, the Group acquired additional six commercial tuna fishing vessels 
from BSJ by virtue of "dacion en pago" with an aggregate fair value amounting to 
$15,225,410 as a full settlement of its advances, as disclosed in Note 11.  

Included in the additions to building and machinery and equipment in 2012 are purchased 
properties from AMHI amounting to $1,321,127 and $759,091, respectively, as disclosed in 
Notes 14 and 21. 

In 2011, a certain property, plant and equipment was sold to MCC for the consideration 
amounting $117,660. 

The disposals in 2012 are due to the change in circumstances resulting in the loss of control 
of the Parent Company over AMHI, as disclosed in Notes 3 and 6 

Reclassification from fishing vessels pertains to three commercial tuna fishing vessels 
reclassified to assets held-for-sale, as disclosed in Note 17.  

A parcel of land located in New Zealand owned by the Group, through PFNZ, was revalued 
on the basis of market value. Latest revaluation of the land was made by John J Ryan & 
Associates on February 1, 2011. 

Had the land of the Group been carried at cost, its carrying amount as at December 31, 2012 
and 2011 would be $1,437,695 and $1,483,772, respectively. 

The revaluation surplus is disclosed in Note 25. 

Management believes that there is no indication that an impairment loss has occurred. 

Total property, plant and equipment held by the Group as at September 30, 2013 and 
December 31, 2012 amounted to $20,762,766 and $27,559,904 respectively, which 
comprised the amounts analyzed above and assets classified as held-for-sale amounting to nil 
and $4,546,406 as at September 30, 2013 and December 31, 2012, respectively. 
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15. INTANGIBLE ASSETS - net 

Intangible assets pertain to fishing licenses, salmon farming consent, and mycrocystic 
consent. The carrying amounts of the Group’s intangible assets follow: 

 
Mycrocystic 

Consent

Salmon 
Farming 
Consent

Fishing 
License Total

Cost $24,588 $70,627 $173,851 $269,066
Accumulated Amortization    
Amortization                -     1,413       -      1,413
Net foreign currency exchange  
    Differences                -     16        -      16
Balance, December 31, 2012 $24,588 $69,198 $173,851 $267,637
Amortization                -     -       -      -
Net foreign currency exchange  
    Differences 228 (3,021) - (2,793)
Carrying Amount September 30, 2013 $24,816 $65,067 $173,851 $264,844

Salmon farming consent is a marine farming license to grow, among other fish, salmon in 
the ocean. The Group has obtained two salmon farming consents. The consents allow the 
Group to have fish farms in two places in Akaroa harbor. The first consent was given on  
May 2, 1991 for salmon farming in Lucas Bay covering almost 1.8 hectares. The second 
consent was given on November 27, 2000 for salmon farming in Titoki Bay where the 
Group can culture green and blue mussels, rock lobster, snapper, paua and other salmon 
species. The licenses allow the Group to utilize a total area of approximately 2.9 hectares. 

Macrocystic consent is a resource consent granted by the New Zealand government to the 
Group in relation to its salmon farming activities. 

Fishing license is granted by Indonesian government to the Group to do fishing activities 
within the Indonesian sea region. 

Management believes that there is no indication that an impairment loss has occurred on its 
intangible assets with definite useful lives. The Group has determined, based on annual 
impairment testing, that the carrying amounts of intangible assets with indefinite useful life 
are not in excess of their net recoverable amounts. 

16. ASSETS HELD-FOR-SALE 

This pertains to three out of seven fishing vessels that the Company acquired from BSJ, as 
disclosed in Notes 11 and 15, with a total carrying amount of nil and $4,546,406 as at 
September 30, 2013 and December 31, 2012, respectively. 

The Company sold the three fishing vessels on April 4, 16 and June 28, 2013 at its appraised 
value. 
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17. OTHER NON-CURRENT ASSETS 

Details of the other non-current assets are shown below: 

 Note 2013 2012
Refundable lease deposit 21 $1,722,137 $1,650,879
Input VAT  423,735 369,307
Others  112,534 2,232

  $2,258,406 $2,022,418

Refundable lease deposit pertains to lease deposit made to AMHI as at September 30, 2013 
and December 31, 2012 and lease deposit made to MCC as at December 31, 2011, as 
disclosed in Note 21. 

In December 28, 2012, pursuant to the Memorandum of Understanding executed between 
the Parent Company and AMHI, the Parent Company has assigned, endorsed and 
transferred to AMHI the entire amount of guarantee deposits made to MCC amounting to 
$1,650,879. The same was acknowledged by MCC. Details are further discussed in  
Note 21. 

18. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 

The details of the outstanding trade and other payables are as follows: 

 2013 2012
Trade   $6,764,632 $4,645,321
Accrued expenses 1,084,669 1,397,308
Taxes payables  341,680 187,450
Customers’ deposits  182,380 169,764
Others 589,132 478,146

  $8,962,493 $6,877,989

The average credit period on purchases of certain goods from suppliers is 15 to 45 days. No 
interest is charged on the outstanding payables even beyond their credit terms. 

Details of accrued expenses are as follows:  

    2013 2012
Employee benefits  $452,413 $    406,467
Due to government agencies - 170,070
Interest  105,067 167,873
Salaries, wages, and other employee benefits  225,644 149,462
Freight 23,818 39,765
Management fees    7,935 33,644
Professional fees  38,684 23,451
Utilities 18,225 9,624
Others  212,883 396,952

  $1,084,669 $1,397,308
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19. LOANS PAYABLE 

The details of the total outstanding loans of the Group are as follows: 
 

 

Loan from a local bank, with an outstanding balance of $6,001,486 as at September 30, 
2013 and December 31, 2012, respectively, is secured by the export proceeds of the 
Purchase Order and Letters of Credit. 

Loans from a foreign bank, with an outstanding balance of $4,000,000 and $3,350,000 as of 
September 30, 2013 and December 31, 2012, respectively, is secured by the Subsidiary’s 
assets with a carrying amount of $7,174,751 and $8,260,575, respectively, with break down 
as follows: 

   Note   2013   2012 
Trade and other receivables 9 $2,753,123 $2,516,135
Inventories 10 2,798,926 1,473,822
Property, plant and equipment 15 4,180,456 4,270,618

  $9,732,505 $8,260,575

All other loans payable represent unsecured peso and US dollar denominated loans from 
local and foreign banks as well as with an investment bank. These are revolving credit 
facilities in the form of export packing credit, export bills purchase, import letter of  
credit, trust receipts and through the issuance of promissory note to finance the  
Group’s working capital requirements. The term ranges from 30 to 180 days payable upon 
maturity. The amount includes the current portion of long-term debt.  

 

Short-term loans

Terms and conditions of outstanding short-term loans and borrowings are as follows:

Creditor
Original 
Currency

Nominal Interest 
Rate %

Year of 
Maturity 2013 2012

Local Bank USD 4.1 to 5.0% 2013 2,885,852           $   5,878,927
Investment Bank PHP 5.20% 2013 4,906,602           4,673,238     
Local Bank USD 4.4 to 5.0% 2013 6,001,486           4,441,271     
Foreign Bank USD 6.50% 2013 4,000,000           3,350,000     
Investment Bank USD 4.90% 2013 2,700,000           2,700,000     
Foreign Bank USD 4.80% 2013 1,250,000           1,250,000     
Private Lenders USD 4.80% 2013 550,000              -                
Local Bank USD 4.80% 2013 849,082              544,877        

23,143,022         22,838,313   
Add: Current portion of long-term loans 1,270,545           1,112,527     

24,413,567         $23,950,840
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Long-term loans

Terms and conditions of outstanding long-term loans and borrowings are as follows:

Creditor
Original 
Currency

Nominal Interest 
Rate %

Year of 
Maturity 2013 2012

Local Bank USD
6-Mos Libor + 

3.75% 2016 2,142,858           $2,500,000

Local Bank USD
90Day PDSTF + 

5% 2016 1,642,857           1,857,143      
Local Bank USD 4.31% 2016 481,250              625,625         
Foreign Bank NZD 10.2%-11.1% 2024 901,135               596,630         
Foreign Bank USD 7.22% 2015 211,829               276,480         
Local Bank USD 9.18% 2015 180,864              182,577         
HC Studholme NZD 7.50% 117,463               116,382         

Individual NZD
Non-interest 

bearing 2016 41,361                40,980           
Foreign Finance Corporation NZD 9.90% 2016 38,529                92,252           

5,758,146           6,288,069      
Less: Current maturities of long-term loans 1,270,545           1,112,527      

4,487,601           $5,175,542

 
The long-term loans with an outstanding balance of $2,142,858 and $1,642,857 as at 
September 30, 2013 and $2,500,000 and $1,857,143 as at December 31, 2012, are secured by 
a guarantee up to 90% of the principal amount by Philippine Export Import Credit Agency 
(PHILEXIM) and assignment of Spence shares of stocks. The proceeds of the loan was 
utilized to partially finance the acquisition of 100% stake in Spence. 

The outstanding mortgage loan of $98,406, net of current portion of $82,458 pertains to 
loans availed by the Group from a certain local bank to finance the acquisition of the 
Group’s transportation equipment, as disclosed in Note 15.  Transportation equipment 
under mortgage has a carrying amount of $204,592. Interest rate is 9.18% per annum, 
payable on a monthly basis and maturing in September 2015.   
The Group entered into a five-year loan facility with a local bank in the principal amount of 
$770,000 drawn on February 9, 2011 to partially finance the construction of the salmon 
processing plant and acquisition of plant machinery and equipment. This is secured by a 
chattel on the Group’s properties with a carrying value of $1,825,965. Moreover, the Parent 
Company executed a guarantee agreement in favor of Land Bank of the Philippines as part 
of the security for the credit facilities obtained by BGB. 
In April 23, 2012, the Group entered into a Facility Agreement with a foreign bank. This 
facility has a maximum amount of $300,000. The outstanding loans drawn from this facility 
are due within three (3) years with eight (8) months grace period from the date of agreement. 

The Group obtained loans from various banks and financial institutions to finance the 
acquisition of machinery and equipment. An existing long-term loan is secured by a 
mortgage on land, with certificate of title nos. 217835 and 217836 as disclosed in Note 15. In 
addition, some of these loans are secured by the Group’s plant furniture, fixtures and 
equipment and transportation equipment as disclosed in Note 15. 

Total finance costs arising from loans amounted to $1,075,369 and $1,126,723 in 2013 and 
2012, respectively, as disclosed in Note 35. 
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20. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 

Details of the transactions between the Group and its related parties for the years ended September 30, 2013, December 31, 2012 and 2011 and related 
outstanding balances as at September 30, 2013, December 31, 2012 and 2011 are as follows: 

 
Amounts Due from / (Due to) 

       Terms Conditions Note          2013           2012       2011         2013         2012   2011 
ASSOCIATES     
   ADVANCES GRANTED  

      AMHI $    - $    100,570 $   154,032 $   595,793 $   593,076 $2,414,345 0% to 5.6% 
Interest; Payable 

on demand
Unsecured, no 

impairment

21.g

      SSNZ - - - 25,721 25,484 - 
      WCFI - - - 6,445,549 - - 
 - 100,570 154,032 7,067,063 618,560 2,414,345
   REFUNDABLE LEASE DEPOSIT  

      AMHI 71,258 1,650,879 - 1,722,137 1,650,879 - 

Payable after 
5 years; 

Discounted at 
4.2169% Not applicable 21.e

   LEASE  

      AMHI 486,060 738,832 720,336 - - - 3-5 years Not applicable 21.d
   PURCHASE OF FIXED ASSETS    
      AMHI - 2,080,218 - - - - Not applicable Not applicable 21.f

JOINT VENTURE       
   FDCP       0% interest; 

Payable on 
demand

Unsecured, no 
impairment 

      Advances granted - 370,761 503,891 22,963 9 151,697 21.b
      Purchases 2,359,500 4,222,602 3,170,874 - - - Not applicable Not applicable
 2,359,500 4,593,363 3,674,765 22,963 9 151,697
VENTURER     
   FDPHI  

      Advances granted $           - $           - $         - $     15,816 $     16,425 $17,228

0% Interest; 
Payable on 

demand

Unsecured, no 
impairment

21.a
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(Forward) 
 

 
Amounts Due from / (Due to) 

Terms Conditions      Note            2013            2012        2011     2013     2012     2011 
SUBSIDIARY OF VENTURER     
   MCC  

      Advances obtained (3,000) (3,000) (863,810) (613,830) (986,850) (967,090)

10% per annum 
on the 1st P50M 

and 8% on 
excess; Payable 

on demand
Unsecured, no 

impairment 21.a
      Refundable lease deposit - - - - - 2,170,815 21.d
      Lease - 41,815 40,768 - - - 21.d, 21.e
 (613,830) (986,850) 1,203,725
SHAREHOLDER OF SUBSIDIARIES 

WITH SIGNIFICANT INFLUENCE 
    

   ADVANCES OBTAINED  

      DUNCAN D. BATES (20,592) (25,998) - (46,590) (25,998) - 

0% Interest; 
Payable on 

demand
Unsecured, no 

impairment 21.c
   ADVANCES GRANTED  

      PT WAILAN PRATAMA - - 1,025,734 775,962 775,962 1,025,734

0% Interest; 
Payable on 

demand
Unsecured, no 

impairment 21.c
RETIREMENT FUND  

   Contribution - - - 25,685 25,685 23,436 Not applicable Not applicable 18.j

Due from related parties $7,881,804 $1,410,956 $1,194,659

Due to related parties ($660,420) ($1,012,848) ($   967,090)

Refundable lease deposit $1,722,137 $1,650,879 $2,170,815

Retirement fund $     25,685 $     25,685 $     23,436

 
Finance costs related to advances from a related party amounted to $182,006 and $ 80,344 in 2013 and 2012, respectively, as disclosed in Note 35. 
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Significant Contract Agreements 

a. On October 18, 2004, the Group entered into a Memorandum of Agreement with 
FDPHI to purchase the debt of FDPHI from certain creditors with miniscule amounts 
at net present value of $17,228. In return, the Group received a total of $26,324 from 
FDPHI over a period of 10 years. In addition, a corresponding number of the Parent 
Company’s shares which would have accrued to the creditors were likewise issued to the 
Parent Company.  The corresponding 287,537 common shares were issued on 
November 8, 2006 as treasury shares.  These are part of the shares declared by the SEC 
as exempted from registration under Sec. 10.2 of the SRC on September 21, 2006. 

b. As at September 30, 2013 and December 31, 2012, the amounts that are due to the 
Group from FDCP are $22,963 and $9, respectively.  

c. The Group entered into purchase commitments of fish from PT Wailan Pratama which 
approximately made up the nil, 7% and 56% of the total purchases of fish in 2012, 2011 
and 2010, respectively. 

d. Duncan D. Bates extended a non-interest bearing cash advance to Akaroa as part of the 
Share Purchase Agreement for its working capital requirements. As at September 30, 
2013 and December 31, 2012, the balance of the Group due to DD Bates amounted to          
$46,590 and $25,998, respectively. 

e. The Group renewed its contract with MCC for the operating lease of the latter’s land, 
plant, machinery and equipment in Barrio Tambler, General Santos City (Gensan Plant), 
Philippines, at a monthly rental of $21,443 in 2010.  The original lease term started from  
March 1, 2004 and expired on December 23, 2010. 

The lease contract between MCC and the Group was extended to a much longer term 
effective January 24, 2011 to December 23, 2013. 

On May 16, 2011, the contract of lease between MCC and the Group was likewise 
terminated and the actual transfer of title to the Group has occurred through AMHI.  

The Group has an outstanding refundable lease deposit from MCC amounting to 
$2,170,815 as at December 31, 2011, as disclosed in Note 18. 

Consequent to the loss of control over AMHI, a Memorandum of Understanding with 
Deed of Assignment (MOU-DA) was executed between the Group and AMHI on 
December 28, 2012.  Under the MOU-DA, the two parties intend to enter into a long-
term lease contract in order to secure long-term possession of the land.  The 
contemplated long-term lease will require the Group to pay AMHI a security deposit in 
an amount equivalent to thirty six (36) months of the first’s monthly rental or equivalent 
to $2,029,579.  In order to pay the security deposits contemplated by the proposed long-
term lease agreement, the Group assigned, endorsed and transferred its refundable lease 
deposit from MCC to AMHI with a revalued amount of $2,020,456 on  
December 31, 2012, and the Group shall pay AMHI an additional amount of $9,123 to 
complete the amount of the security deposit required. 

The Group’s refundable lease deposit receivable from AMHI was discounted at 
4.2169% as of June 30, 2013, receivable one time after five years resulting in a present 
value of $1,650,879, as disclosed in Note 18.  The difference between its fair value and 
present value amounting to $378,700 is recognized as finance cost as disclosed in Note 
35. 
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f. In addition, the Group leases from MCC an office condominium unit where its head 
office is located for a period of two years from January 1, 2009 to December 31, 2011, 
renewable by mutual agreement of both parties. The lease contract was renewed on 
December 29, 2011 with the term of two years commencing from January 1, 2012 until 
December 31, 2013. The lease is classified as an operating lease with a monthly rental of 
$3,615 and $3,485 in 2013 and 2012, respectively, as disclosed in Note 32. 

g. On December 28, 2012, a Deed of Absolute Sale was executed between the Group and 
AMHI whereby the Group has acquired some of AMHI’s property and equipment with 
an aggregate purchase price of $2,080,218, as disclosed in Note 15. 

h. The Group is a co-borrower to the long-term loan of its associate AMHI from a local 
bank pursuant to the loan agreement dated January 13, 2011.  The outstanding balance 
of the loan as of September 30, 2013 and December 31, 2012 are P83,875,000 and 
P106,750,000 respectively, at prevailing bank interest rate. The loan is secured by real 
estate mortgage on a parcel of land covered by TCT T-80905 with an area of 68,751 sq. 
m. registered in the name of AMHI plus the existing improvements and chattel 
mortgage of the plant equipment and machineries located within the collateral property. 

Intra-group Amounts and Balances 

Upon consolidation, significant intra-group amounts and balances are eliminated to reflect 
the Group’s consolidated financial position and performance as a single entity. 

Intra-group receivables as at September 30, 2013 and December 31, 2012 that are eliminated 
upon consolidation are as follows: 

         2013     2012
Parent Company’s receivable from:   

BGB  $3,340,162 $2,355,804
PTIAFI 1,094,218 855,118
Spence  25,097 641,923
PFNZ  508,824 396,441
Akaroa 195,821 106,642

  5,164,082 4,355,928
Spence’s receivable from Parent Company  691,667 250,000
PFNZ’s receivable from BGB  304,247 179,657
BGB’s receivable from PFNZ 256,297 131,701

  $6,416,293 $4,917,286
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Intra-group payables as at September 30, 2013 and December 31, 2012 eliminated upon 
consolidation are as follows: 

         2013     2012
Payable to Parent Company:  

BGB  $3,340,162 $2,355,804
Spence  25,097 641,923
PTIAFI 1,094,218 855,118
PFNZ 508,824 397,649
Akaroa  195,821 104,130

  5,164,082 4,354,624
BGB’s payable to:   

PFNZ  310,277 188,909
  310,277 188,909
Parent Company’s payable to Spence  691,667 250,000
PFNZ’s payable to BGB 226,746 129,129

 $6,392,772 $4,922,662

Other intra-group balances for the period ended September 30, 2013 and 2012 that are 
eliminated upon consolidation are as follows: 

           2013 2012 
Commission income $419,902 $180,937
Management fee 225,000 -
Interest expense 9,625 -

21. RETIREMENT BENEFIT 

The Group values its defined benefit obligation using Projected Unit Credit Method by the 
service of an independent actuary and accrues retirement benefit expense for its qualified 
employees based on the minimum retirement benefit provided under Republic Act No. 7641 
equivalent to one-half month salary per year of service, a fraction of at least six months 
being considered as one whole year.  One-half month salary is defined as 15 days plus 1/12 
of the 13th month pay and the cash equivalent of not more than five days of service incentive 
leaves.  The benefit shall be payable to employees who retire from service who are at least 60 
years old and with at least five years of continuous service.  

The Group has executed a Trust Agreement with a local bank dated January 13, 2011, 
establishing the Group’s Retirement Plan.  

The most recent actuarial valuation was carried out by an independent actuary on  
January 2, 2013 for data as at December 31, 2012. 
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22. SHARE CAPITAL 

 Note Shares 2013 Shares 2012 
Authorized: 
Ordinary shares of P1 par value each

 

1,500,000,000 P1,500,000,000 1,500,000,000 P1,500,000,000
Issued, fully paid and outstanding: 
Beginning 1,069,713,774 $22,575,922 871,545,024 $ 17,861,369
Additional issuance:  
   Exercise of stock rights - - - - 
   Stock dividends 26 - - 137,500,000 3,258,912
   Sale of shares - - 60,668,750 1,455,641
Total issued and fully paid 1,069,713,774 22,575,922 1,069,713,774 22,575,922
Treasury shares (287,537) (5,774) (287,537) (5,774)

Outstanding shares  1,069,426,237 $22,570,148 1,069,426,237 $22,570,148

The Parent Company has one class of ordinary shares which carry no right to fixed income. 

The history of shares issuances from the initial public offering (IPO) of the Parent Company 
is as follows: 

Transaction Subscriber
Registration/ 

Issue Date
Number of 

Shares Issued
Listing of common shares Various November 8, 2006 401,099,610
IPO Various November 8, 2006 134,000,000
Stock dividend Various December 17, 2007 64,177,449
Stock rights offer (SRO) Various July 25,2011 272,267,965
Stock dividend Various January 25, 2012 137,500,000
Sale of shares Various December 14, 2012 60,668,750

  1,069,713,774

On October 23, 2006, the Parent Company launched an Initial Public Offering (IPO) of 
134,000,000 common shares at an offer price of P1.35. The offered shares represented 
25.04% of the Parent Company’s issued and outstanding capital stock.  The Parent Company 
raised net proceeds of $3,304,556 from the IPO. On November 8, 2006, the Parent 
Company’s shares of stocks totaling 535,099,610 shares were listed with the Philippine Stock 
Exchange (PSE). 

On June 26, 2007, the Parent Company declared 12% stock dividends corresponding to 
64,177,449 shares with a value of $3,000,070 to all stockholders of record as of  
November 20, 2007. 

On July 25, 2011, the Company issued an additional 272,267,965 shares arising from its 
stock rights offer, which entitled each eligible investor to one rights share for every two and 
two-tenths (2.2) existing common shares held as at June 13, 2011 record date. 

In its meeting on August 1, 2011, the Board of Directors approved the increase in the 
Company’s authorized capital stock from P950,000,000 divided into 950,000,000 shares to 
P1,500,000,000 divided into 1,500,000,000 shares with a par value of P1 per share.  The 
same resolution was approved by the stockholders in their meeting on August 1, 2011. The 
increase in capital stock was approved by the SEC on November 25, 2011. 

On January 25, 2012, the Company issued the 15.78% stock dividend declared on  
August 1, 2011, as discussed in Note 26. 
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On October 1, 2012, the Company received additional subscription from certain 
shareholders for private placement purposes amounting to US$2,329,033. The fund raised 
from the said private placement was used to finance the Company’s acquisition of 80% stake 
in Akaroa. On November 28, 2012, the PSE approved the application of the Company to 
list additional 60,668,750 common shares (the “Private Placement Shares”), with a par value 
of P1.00 per share, to cover its private placement transactions with various subscribers.  The 
Private Placement Shares were issued to the subscribers at a subscription price of P1.60 per 
share with an aggregate transaction value of P97,070,000. 

23. NON-CONTROLLING INTEREST 

 Notes      2013      2012 
Balance, beginning  $59,919 $275,400
Effects of loss of control over AMHI 3, 12 - 721,686
Non-controlling interest in Akaroa  - 69,040
Translation adjustment - 11,598
Non-controlling interest in PT Van Da Zee  (15,153) 19,141
Revaluation increment  - -
Effects of the acquisition of NCI shares in 

PTIAFI  - (492,437)
Share in loss for the quarter  (301,993) (544,509)

  ($ 257,227) $ 59,919

24. RESERVES  

 This account consists of: 

 Notes 2013 2012 
Additional paid-in capital $3,821,732 $3,821,732
Cumulative currency translation adjustments 188,479 162,876
Revaluation increment 15 71,677 71,677
Fair value on investment revaluation reserve 13 26,670 26,670

 $4,108,558 $4,082,955

The revaluation increment amounting to $71,678 arose from the share of the Group in the 
excess of revalued amounts over its cost and $563,374 arose from the revaluation made on 
June 28, 2013 for the fishing vessel.. There has been no revaluation made since the latest 
revaluation disclosed in Note 15. 

Increase in revaluation increment in 2012 has been caused by the following: 

a. revaluation increment from the newly acquired subsidiary at the date of business 
combination amounting to $17,624; and 

b. foreign currency translation adjustments resulting to a decrease in the revaluation 
increment amounting to $3,615, net of the share thereto of the non-controlling interest 
amounting to $3,961. 

Fair value on investment revaluation reserve arises from the accumulated share in other 
comprehensive income of a joint venture, FDCP. The share in other comprehensive income 
of a joint venture arises solely to the accumulated fair value gain on the joint venture’s 
available-for-sale investments.  
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Translation reserve comprises all foreign currency differences arising from the translation of 
the separate financial statements of the Group’s foreign subsidiaries whose functional 
currencies differ from the Group’s functional currency. 
 

25. DIVIDENDS DECLARED 

On August 1, 2011, the Parent Company declared a 15.78% share dividends corresponding 
to 137,500,000 shares with a par value of $3,258,912 to all shareholders of record as at 
January 25, 2012. On the date of dividend declaration, these share dividends are recorded at 
fair market value of $4,008,462 and the excess of $749,550 is recorded as part of share 
premium. These shares of stock were issued on January 25, 2012. 

On December 4, 2009, the Parent Company declared cash dividends of P.02 per share with a 
value of $258,430 out of the unrestricted retained earnings as at December 31, 2009.  The 
cash dividends were paid on February 3, 2010. 

26. REVENUE - net 

An analysis of the Group’s net revenue is as follows: 

              2013           2012 
Sales of goods  $62,815,770 $58,104,134
Less: Freight   1,032,229 1,165,011

 Sales discounts 24,793 1,670
 Commission  35,494 58,115

        Sales returns  145 137,854

  $61,723,109 $56,741,484

27. OTHER INCOME 

An analysis of the Group’s other income is as follows: 

 Notes             2013           2012 
Gain on sale of asset  $545,393 -
Foreign exchange gain - realized  459,691 -
Foreign exchange gain - unealized  237,253 -
Interest income 7 9,732 34,751
Miscellaneous  41,183 3,235

 $1,293,252 $37,986
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28. COST OF GOODS MANUFACTURED AND SOLD 

 Notes 2013   2012 
Materials used 9 $46,463,740 $42,340,096 
Direct labor 5,385,385 4,387,341 
Manufacturing overhead   

Fuel 1,307,355 1,247,193 
Indirect labor 898,169 600,425 
Warehousing  814,904 602,554 
Fishmeal 811,706 1,214,402 
Depreciation and amortization 14 773,553 526,526 
Rental 20, 31 725,053 105,660 
Light and water  528,784 453,779 
Consumables 438,747 352,818 
Repairs and maintenance 429,340 400,054 
Laboratory 411,645 288,054 
Freight and handling 401,674 326,146 
Outside services 139,903 292,169 
Insurance 129,582 102,105 
Security fees 81,075 87,896 
Travel and communication 78,218 40,916 
Representation and entertainment 72,492 62,638 
Amortization of prepayments 55,740 23,640 
Professional fees 16,575 11,789 
Others        258,421 438,715 

Total manufacturing costs 60,222,060 53,904,916 
Finished goods, beginning 9 7,093,854 3,667,344 
Total cost of goods manufactured 67,315,914 57,572,260 
Finished goods, ending 9 11,723,640 8,186,251 
Cost of goods manufactured 
       and sold 

 
$55,592,274 $ 49,386,009 

Other manufacturing overhead includes cooperative labor services and office. 
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29. SELLING AND ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES 

 Notes 2013   2012 
Salaries, wages and other short-term 

benefits  $1,913,692 $ 1,291,651 
Transportation and travel 383,412 363,841 
Advertising and marketing  374,724 231,924 
Outside services  321,932 247,178 
Taxes and licenses 230,322 299,460 
Business development   221,341 168,303 
Representation and entertainment  179,446 67,856 
Utilities and communication 115,324 125,398 
Insurance  114,503 80,368 
Rental 20, 31 108,404 112,118 
Retirement benefit  21 91,909 48,000 
Materials and supplies 88,505 133,083 
Depreciation and amortization 14, 15, 16 86,060 215,631 
Other personnel expenses  78,819 22,324 
Fuel and oil  49,256 45,926 
Repairs and maintenance 44,852 37,152 
Condominium dues  39,537 7,752 
Membership dues  30,700 23,364 
Freight and handling 27,689 19,905 
Fringe benefit tax  20,352 14,279 
Liquidated damages  - 260,168 
Management fee - 111,496 
Others  204,600 53,503 

  $4,725,379 $ 3,980,680 
 

Others include buyer’s claim, postage and export documentation expenses. 

30. OTHER EXPENSES 

  2013   2012 
Shutdown costs  $324,739 -
Business development expense 280,000 
Provision for doubtful accounts 236,853 -
Depreciation of non-operating assets  190,958 7,075
Board of Directors  134,974 116,905
Others 3,676 -

  $1,171,200 $ 123,980
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31. OPERATING LEASE AGREEMENTS 

The Group as Lessee 

As at January 1, 2013, the Group enters into a new operating lease for the utilization of the 
Plant site located at Brgy. Tambler General Santos City . Lease is negotiated for an average 
term of five (5) years renewable upon terms acceptable to both parties. In consideration of 
the use of the leased premises, the Group pays a monthly rental of $58,338. The long-term 
lease will require the Group to pay AMHI a security deposit in an amount equivalent to 
thirty six (36) months of the first’s monthly rental or equivalent to $2,029,579. 

The Group leases from MCC an office condominium unit where its head office is located 
for a period of two years from January 1, 2009 to December 31, 2011, renewable by mutual 
agreement of both parties. The lease contract was renewed on December 29, 2011 with the 
term of two years commencing from January 1, 2012 until December 31, 2013. The lease is 
classified as an operating lease with a monthly rental of $3,485, $3,397, and $3,262 in 2012, 
2011 and 2010, respectively. 

On April 1, 2009 and July 1, 2010, the Group leases from Luthi Machinery Company, Inc. 
the two Solid Pack canning machines, serial No. SPD8-93 and SP156-95 for a period of five 
(5) years with an annual minimum rental of $36,000 and $58,000, respectively. Lessee agrees 
to pay an overage rental of $0.137 and $0.131, respectively, per case packed of filled by 
Lessee during each year when production from the machine during each year of the Lease 
term exceeds 275,000 and 300,000 cases, respectively. The lease term is renewable by mutual 
agreement of both parties. 

The Group leases from Gael Land the manufacturing, warehouse and office space, in United 
States, for a period of nine (9) years from January 1, 2012 to May 31, 2020, renewable by 
mutual agreement of both parties. In consideration of the use of the leased premises, the 
Group pays a monthly rental of $17,900. The long-term lease will require the Group to pay 
the Lessor a refundable security deposit in an amount equivalent to two months rental or 
equivalent to $35,800. 

On August 2012, the Group leases from Baruch Estate the manufacturing and office space, 
in New Zealand, for a period of five (5) years from August 2012 to July 2017, renewable by 
mutual agreement of both parties. Lessee agrees to pay a monthly rental of $4,705. 

Rental expense charged in profit and loss in relation to the lease agreements amounted to 
$345,398, $400,703, and $438,916 in 2012, 2011 and 2010, respectively, as disclosed in Notes 
29 and 30. 

Total rental deposits recognized in the consolidated statements of financial position, as part 
of other non-current assets, amounted to $1,650,879 and $2,170,815 as at  
December 31, 2012 and 2011, respectively as disclosed in Note 18. Outstanding prepaid 
rentals presented in the consolidated statements of financial position, as part of prepayments 
and other current assets, amounted to $12,436 as at December 31, 2012 as disclosed in  
Note 11. 
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32. CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY 

The Group continued to be of service to the deprived provincial communities through its 
feeding program and participation in tuna donation programs spearheaded by various 
partner organizations.  

Calendar year 2010 marks the third year of the Group’s feeding program. There are 161 
elementary and 60 high school undernourished students benefited in the program. At the 
end of the school year, almost 90% of the children attained their normal body weights, thus, 
contributing a positive effect in their school performance and total well-being. The Group’s 
consistency of organizing yearly feeding programs gained remarkable recognitions, 
encouraging public and private organizations to do the same and to be of assistance to our 
fellow Filipinos. 

In the calendar year 2011, the Group sustained its feeding program in its adopted public 
school in General Santos City. The Group also donated canned tuna to the typhoon victims 
in Luzon and southern part of the Philippines. 

The Group is on its 5th year of spearheading the feeding program in Banisil National High 
School. As in the previous year, the Group enlisted the support of other organization in the 
community for its sustained 22 week feeding program. The Group catered to 94 
undernourished students giving them an opportunity to attend to school every day with a 
healthy body, mind and spirit.  On December 2012, the Group extended relief and support 
to typhoon victim in New Bataan, Compostela Valley. 

33. FINANCE COSTS 

The composition of finance costs based on its source are as follows:  

 Notes 2013    2012 
Bank loans 19 $   818,146 $  598,243 
Long-term loans 19 257,223 528,523 
Advances from a related party 20     182,006   80,344 
Bank charges  106,614 156,393 
Documentary stamps on loan availments 101,807 71,319 

 $1,465,796 $ 1,434,822 

34. EARNINGS (LOSS) PER SHARE 

The calculation of the basic and diluted earnings per share is based on the following data: 

             Earnings (Loss) 
 2013    2012  
Profit (Loss) for the year $62,734   $ 1,625,566
Weighted average number of shares  
    Outstanding 1,069,426,237  1,008,757,487

Earnings (Loss) per share $0.0001 $        0.0016

The Group has no dilutive potential shares in 2013 and 2012; hence, basic earnings per share 
are equal to the diluted earnings per share.  
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35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 

Financial risk management objectives and policies 

The Group’s activities are exposed to a variety of financial risks: market risk relating to foreign 
exchange risk and interest rate risk, credit risk and liquidity risk.  The Group’s overall risk 
management program seeks to minimize potential adverse effects on the financial 
performance of the Group.  The policies for managing specific risks are summarized below: 

Market risk 

Market risk is the risk due to changes in market prices, such as foreign exchange rates and 
interest rates that will affect the Group’s profit or the value of its holdings of financial 
instruments.  The objective of market risk management is to manage and control market risk 
exposures within acceptable parameters, while optimizing the return. 

There has been no change on the Group’s exposure to market risks or the manner in which 
it manages and measures the risk. 

Foreign exchange risk 

Foreign exchange risk relates to the possibility that an investment’s value changing due to 
changes in currency exchange rate. The Group undertakes certain transactions denominated 
in foreign currencies.  Hence, exposures to exchange rate fluctuations arise with respect to 
transactions denominated in foreign currencies.  Foreign exchange risk arises from future 
commercial transactions when recognized assets and liabilities are denominated in a currency 
that is not the Group’s functional currency.  Significant fluctuation in the exchange rates 
could significantly affect the Group’s financial position.   

The Group seeks to mitigate its transactional currency exposures by maintaining its costs at 
consistent levels, regardless of any upward or downward movements in the foreign currency 
exchange rates. 

Interest rate risk 
Interest rate risk refers to the possibility that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial 
instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates. 
The primary source of the Group’s interest rate risk relates to debt instruments such as bank 
and mortgage loans.  The interest rates on these liabilities are disclosed in Note 20. 

The Group has no established policy on managing interest rate risk.  Management believes 
that any variation in the interest will not have a material impact on the net profit of the 
Group. 

Bank and mortgage loans amounting to $28,901,168 and $29,126,382 as at  
September 30, 2013 and December 31, 2012, respectively, agreed at interest rates ranging 
from approximately 4% to 11% for bank loans and 9.2% per annum for mortgage loans, 
expose the Group to fair value interest rate risk. 

An estimate of 50 basis points increase or decrease is used in reporting interest rate changes 
and represents Management’s assessment of the reasonably possible change in interest rates. 

The effects of a 50 basis points change in interest rate on net profit for the period ended 
September 30, 2013 and December 31, 2012 is an increase or a decrease of $145,069 and 
$131,063, respectively. This is mainly attributable to the Group’s exposure to interest rates 
on its borrowings. 
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Credit risk 

Credit risk refers to the possibility that counterparty will default on its contractual 
obligations resulting in financial loss to the Group. 

The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to cash, trade and other receivables, due 
from related parties, and refundable lease deposit.  

The Group has adopted a policy of extending sufficient credit terms to customers such as, 
letters of credit and documents against payment as a means of mitigating the risk of financial 
loss from defaults.  The Group only transacts with entities that are rated the equivalent of 
investment grade.  The Group uses publicly available financial information and its own 
trading records to rate its major customers.  

Based on the prior years’ experiences of the Group and based on the assessment of the 
current economic environment and creditworthiness of its debtors, Management believes 
receivables are neither impaired nor uncollectible, as disclosed in Note 8. 

The carrying amounts of financial assets recorded in the consolidated financial statements, 
represent the Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk without taking account the value of 
any collateral obtained: 

            2013            2012
Cash and cash equivalents $   1,864,722 $  4,191,826
Trade and other receivables 9,370,891 11,474,299
Due from related parties 7,881,804 1,410,956
Refundable lease deposit 1,722,137 1,650,879

 $20,839,554 $18,727,960

Included in the Group’s trade and other receivables are debtor’s accounts which are past due 
with carrying amounts of $908,800 and $4,274,043 as at September 30, 2013 and December 
31, 2012, respectively, for which the Group has provided an allowance $59,754 as at 
September 30, 2013, since there is no significant change in the credit quality of these 
receivables and the amounts are still considered recoverable. 

Aging of accounts that are past due but not impaired: 

             2013            2012
1 to 30 days past due $783,873 $3,399,419
31 to 60 days past due 65,361 749,671
Over 60 days 59,565 124,953

 $908,800 $4,274,043

Liquidity risk 

Liquidity risk refers to the possibility that the Group will encounter difficulty in meeting the 
obligations associated with its financial liabilities that are settled by delivering cash or another 
financial asset.  The Group’s approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, 
that it will always have sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when due, under both normal 
and stressed conditions, without incurring unacceptable losses or risking damage to the 
Group’s reputation. 

The Group manages liquidity risk by maintaining adequate reserves in cash in bank, banking 
facilities and reserve borrowing facilities, by continuously monitoring forecast and actual 
cash flows and matching the maturity profiles of financial assets and liabilities. 
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36. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT 

The Group manages its capital to ensure that the Group will be able to continue as a going 
concern while maximizing the profits of the shareholders through the optimization of the 
debt and equity balance.   

The capital structure of the Group consists of debt, which includes loans, and advances 
received from related parties as offset by cash and cash equivalents, and equity attributable 
to equity holders of the parent, comprising issued capital, reserves and retained earnings.  

The debt to equity ratio of the Group at each reporting period is within the acceptable range 
as follows: 

 2013 2012 
Debt $29,561,588 $30,139,230
Less:  Cash and cash equivalents 1,864,722 4,191,826
Net debt 27,696,866 25,947,404
Equity 30,987,510 30,899,173
Debt to equity ratio 0.89:1 0.84:1

Debt is composed of loans payable, and due to a related party as discussed in Notes 20 and 
21, respectively, while equity includes share capital and reserves and retained earnings of the 
Group, less treasury shares. 

The Group reviews its capital structure on an annual basis. As part of this review, the Group 
considers the cost of capital and the risks associated with it. 

The Group is not subject to any externally imposed capital requirements. 

* * * 




